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SEMIRARA MINING CORPORATION 

 

SEC FORM 17-A 

 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 

OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141 

OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 

 

1. For the fiscal year ended: December 31, 2013 

 

2. SEC Identification No.: 91447          3.     BIR Tax ID No.: 000-190-324-000 

 

4. Exact Name of issuer as specified in its charter: Semirara Mining Corporation 

 

5.   Philippines                                                     6.  ______________ (SEC Use Only) 

      Province, Country or other jurisdiction of                  Industry Classification Code:     

      Incorporation or organization 

 

7.  2
nd

 Floor, DMCI Plaza, 2281 Don Chino Roces Avenue, Makati City     1200 

Address of principal office             Postal Code 

 

8. (02) 888-3555 / (02) 888-3955 (Fax) 

Issuer’s telephone number, including area code 

 

9. ……………………………………………………………………………………… 

Former name, Address and fiscal year, if changed since last report 

 

10. Securities registered pursuant to Secs. 8 & 12 of SRC, or Secs. 4 & 8 of RSA 

 

Title of Each Class Number of Shares Stock Outstanding and 

Amount of (Long-term) Debt Outstanding 

Common 356,250,000 / ₱15,808,646,351  

 

11. Are any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange 

 

Yes  ()               No  (   ) 

 

 If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein:  

 Philippine Stock Exchange - Common Shares 

 

12. Check whether the issuer: 

 

(a) Has filed all reports required to be filed by Sec. 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule17 thereunder or  Sec. 

11  of the  RSA  and  RSA Rule 11 (a)-1 thereunder and Sections 26 and 141 of the Corporation 

Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter period that 

the registrant was required to file such reports); 

 

 Yes ()                     No (   ) 

 

(b) Has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 

 

Yes (   )                    No () 

 

  



 

 - 2 - 

 

 

SEMIRARA  
MINING  

CORPORATION 

(c) State the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant. 

 

Name No. Of Shares 

Held 

% of Total Aggregate Market 

Value 

PCD Nominee Corp. (Foreign) 42,378,964 11.90% ₱12,205,141,632.00 

Others 67,685,175 19.00% 19,493,330,400.00 

TOTAL 110,064,139 30.90% ₱31,698,472,032.00
1
 

 

                                                 
1 Computed on the basis of closing price at ₱288.00/share as of December 27, 2013 as quoted by the Philippine Stock 

Exchange. 
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NON-FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 

 

PART I- BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

A. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 

(1) Business Development 

 

(a) Form and year of organization. -  The Company was incorporated on February 26, 1980 to 

explore, develop, and mine the coal resources in Semirara Island. To date, the Company has 

seven (7) wholly-owned (100%) subsidiaries, namely:  

(i)  SEM-Calaca Power Corporation (SCPC) was incorporated on November 19, 2009 to 

engage in the business of power generation; 

(ii) SEM-Cal Industrial Park Developers Inc. (SIPDI) was incorporated on April 27, 2011 to 

engage the development of economic zone in accordance with Republic Act No. 7916, as 

amended, otherwise known as the Special Economic Zone Act of 1995; 

(iii)  Southwest Luzon Power Generation Corporation (SLPGC) was incorporated on August 

31, 2011 to engage in the business of power generation; 

(iv) Semirara Claystone Inc. (SCI) was incorporated on November 29, 2012 to engage in the 

business of manufacturing of clay products; 

(v) Semirara Energy Utilities Inc. (SEUI) was incorporated on February 18, 2013 to perform 

qualified third party functions as an alternative electric service provider authorized to 

serve remote and unviable areas; 

(vi) SEM-Balayan Power Generation Corporation (SBPGC) was incorporated on September 

9, 2013 to engage in the business of power generation; and 

(vii) St. Raphael Power Generation Corporation (SRPGC) was incorporated on September 10, 

2013 to engage in the business of power generation. 

 

(b) Any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings. - None. 

 

(c) Any material reclassification, merger, consolidation, or purchase or sale of a significant 

amount of assets not in the ordinary course of business. - None. 

  

(2) Business of Issuer 

 

(a) Description of Registrant 

 

(i) Principal product or services and their markets. - The Company generates its revenues 

through the production and sale of sub-bituminous coal. The coal handling services at the 

National Power Corporation’s Calaca Power Plants, located in Batangas was terminated 

after the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, SCPC acquired ownership over the Calaca 

Power Plants in December 2, 2009. Over the years the Company diversified its coal 

market.  For the year 2013, volume sold to export market accounted for 45% of the total 

coal sales, the power generation sector 38%, cement and other industries at 17%.  Year on 

year, market share varies depending on the demand from each of the major market sector. 

The total power off-take in 2013 showed a net increase of 3% from last due to higher off-

take by its own power generating units at Calaca, Batangas. The Company’s wholly-

owned power subsidiary, SCPC supplies power under various bilateral contracts and its 

excess power generated are sold to Whole Sale Electricity Sport Market (WESM) or the 

spot market. Total contracted energy in 2013 is at 485 MW, of 420 MW is for Meralco.  

SIPDI intends to develop certain areas within the premises of the Calaca Power Plant into 

an economic zone to cater certain industries that will benefit due to its proximity to 

Calaca Power Plants but as of to date, it still remains under study.  To date, approval to 

develop the areas within the Calaca Power Plants is pending with the Philippine 

Economic Zone Authority (PEZA). The new wholly-owned subsidiary, Semirara 

Claystone, Inc. was created to primarily engage in, conduct, and carry on the business of 

manufacturing, buying, selling, distributing, marketing at wholesale and retail all kinds of 

goods from clay and other related raw materials, it is still under pre-operating stage since 

it has not yet started production of commercial quantity.  SLPGC  is currently developing 

and going to operate the 2x150 MW Coal Fired Thermal Power Plant, using Circulating 

Fluidized Bed Technology, located adjacent to the Calaca Power Plants. Project target 
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completion is 1
st
 half 2015. Finally, SRPGC plans to own, develop and operate a power 

plant with a capacity which may range between 350MW to 400MW to be located 

adjacent to SLPGC’s power plant. 

 

(ii) Percentage of sales or revenues and net income contributed by foreign sales for each 

of the last three years. – For years 2013, 2012 and 2011, the coal segment, foreign sales 

accounted for 45%, 40% and 36% of gross coal sales revenues, respectively and around 

13.5%, 25%, 21.0% in net income after tax, respectively.  For the power revenue, 100% is 

local sales.  

  

(iii) Distribution methods of the products or services. – In general Marketing policy is to 

sell directly to ultimate consumers for local sales on FOB basis. Export sales are 

distributed through coal traders, also on FOB basis. 

 

(iv) Status of any publicly-announced new product or services.  - Not applicable. 

 

(v) Competition. - Competition is insignificant in so far as domestic coal mine is concerned.  

The Company remains the largest coal producer in the Philippines.  Based on the 2013 

production data from Department of Energy, the Company’s production output accounted 

for 96.53% of total production in the Philippines of 7.84M MT while the nominal balance 

is shared by small-scale mines in Cebu, Batan Island, Albay, Surigao, Zamboanga and 

other areas.  Nonetheless, domestic coal demand is still anchored heavily on imported 

coal. In 2013, the Company contributed 7.57 million metric tons (MT) to the country’s 

coal.   The competitiveness of domestic coal producers is threatened by the more superior 

quality of imported coal as well as the government’s policy on liberalization.  This is 

however compensated by the Department of Energy's policy to promote indigenous 

energy resources and lower freight costs of local coal vis-à-vis imports. The Company 

remains to be competitive while it continues to exert efforts to improve the quality of its 

coal and keep production costs low. Common Effective Preferential Tariff rates (CEPT) 

on coal among ASEAN member nations is 0%, outside ASEAN, the tariff rate is at 5%.   

 

To be competitive, local coal industry must be priced competitively against imported 

coals, currently from, Indonesia, China & Australia.  Pricing of domestic coal is based on 

import parity inclusive of taxes and duties (at the current rate of taxes and duties).  With 

the inherent quality of Semirara coal, it is estimated that it can be utilized by 

approximately 50% of the total Philippine market. In 2013, 22% of the local market was 

served by Semirara. The promptness of delivery and quality of coal is required. The 

power companies are mostly located in Luzon and a few in the Visayas and Mindanao. 

 

(vi) Sources and availability of raw materials and the name of Principal suppliers; any 

major existing supply contracts. - The Company has a Coal Operating Contract (COC) 

with Department of Energy (DOE) in 1977 (amended 1981) for the exploration, 

development, mining and utilization of coal over Semirara Island, Antique pursuant to 

Presidential Decree No. 972.  On May 13, 2008, the DOE approved the term extension of 

the Company’s COC from July 13, 2012 to July 14, 2027.  Semirara Island has an 

estimated coal reserve of 150 million metric tons representing 50% of the country’s 

known coal reserve.  On November 12, 2009, DOE and the Company executed Second 

Amendment to Coal Operating Contract.  The second amendment amended the 

coordinates of the contract area to include an area of 3,000 and 4,200 hectares, more or 

less situated in Caluya Island and Sibay Island, Antique. 

 

Currently, the Company has an existing coal supply contract with SCPC. Potential 

requirement of the Calaca Plants is approximately 1.5 to 2.0 Million MTs.   

 

(vii) Dependence upon a single customer. –The Company is no longer dependent upon a 

single customer.  It successfully diversified its market base. In 2013, export and local 

sales registered at 45% and 55% in terms of volume and at 44% and 56% in terms of 

value, respectively. While in 2012, export and local sales registered at 44% and 56% in 

terms of volume and 40% and 60% in terms of value, respectively,  from 37% and 63% in 

terms of volume and 36% and 64% in terms of value, respectively in 2011.  Sales to 

Calaca Power Plant was at 28% in 2013 from 22% in 2012.  Total sales to power plants 
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registered at 38% from 35% in 2013.  The balance was shared among other power plants, 

cement plants and other industries.  

 

       Historically, approximately 98% of the Company’s revenue streams are from then NPC 

Calaca Plants.  NPC’s consumption of Semirara Coal has steadily increased since the 

Company worked on improving the quality of its coal.  Note that the Company started 

washing 25% of its production in mid-1999.  Resultantly, its market has widened, to 

include other power plants, the cement industry and other small industrial plants and in 

2007, Semirara coal was tested by the export market.  In 2007, NPC’s share in volume 

and value of the Company’s sales went down to 38% and 45%, respectively, from 63% to 

68% in 2006.  In 2008, NPC share in volume and value further dropped to 24% to 40% 

due to steady increase in total volume sold resulting from increase in domestic sales to 

other power plants and industries and export sales as well.  In 2007, sale to domestic 

customers (outside NPC) accounted for 39% and 37%, respectively, in terms of volume 

and value, and rose to 46% in volume and decreased by 27% in value in 2008.  Likewise, 

in 2007, export sales’ share in volume and value registered at 22% and 18%, respectively, 

and went up to 30% and 22% in 2008.  In 2009, NPC Calaca Power plants’ share in 

volume remained at 24%, while in terms of value it slid to 39%.  Market share of 

domestic customers, other than NPC registered at 25% for both volume and value. 

Notably, the share of export market went up to 51% and 37% in volume and value 

respectively in 2009.  In December 2009, the 2x300 MW power plants of NPC at Calaca, 

Batangas were turned-over to Semirara Mining Corporation after successful privatization 

of PSALM of said power plants. 

 

 While on the other hand, for its power segment, around 85% of its average load capacity 

is contracted.  Majority of the power generated is sold to Meralco. 

 

(viii)Transactions with and/or dependence on related parties. -  Please refer to Note 18 

(Related Party Transactions) of Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements and Note 

18 (Related Party Transactions) of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

 The company has no other transaction with other parties (outside the definition of “related 

parties”) whom the company or its related parties have relationship that enables the 

parties to negotiate terms of material transactions that may not be available from other, 

more clearly independent parties on an arm’s length basis.  Related Party Transaction do 

not include financial assistance to affiliates or related entities not wholly-owned 

subsidiaries. 

 

(ix) Patents, trademarks, copyrights, licenses, franchises, Concessions and royalty 

agreements held. - Under its Coal Operating Contract, the Company is required to pay 

royalties to the Department of Energy (DOE) – at minimum of 3% based on FOB sales or 

at 30% of net proceeds (gross revenue less all expenses, excluding royalty and corporate 

tax) and compensation for entry and use of private lands under the provisions of PD 972, 

as amended by PD 1174, to land owners–₱0.50/MT for untitled land and ₱1.00/MT for 

titled land. 

 

(x) Need for any government approval of principal products or services. - The Company  

has secured permits and licenses from the government as follows:  a) Coal Operating 

Contract with the DOE effective until 2012;
2
 b) Mineral Exploration Permit No. 99-001-

VI issued by the DENR renewable every 2 years; c) Environmental Compliance 

Certificate (ECC) No. 9805-009-302 issued by the DENR effective for the duration of the 

project; d) Business Permit issued by Caluya, Antique and Makati City; e) Aerodrome 

Rating Certificate No. 218 issued by the ATO-yearly renewable by site; f) Certificate of 

Registration of Port Facilities No. 149 until December 31, 2014; and g) DENR Special 

Land Use Permit No. 6-1-SLUP-OLP002-03152017 until March 15, 2017.   

 

(xi) Effect of existing or probable governmental regulations on the business. – None  

 

                                                 
2 Extended on May 13, 2008 for 15 years or until July 14, 2027. 
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(xii) Estimate of amount spent on research and development Activities (2 fiscal years). - 

None. 

 

(xiii) Costs and effects of compliance with environmental laws. - The Company has 

programs being implemented to comply with the conditions of ECC, which includes the 

Regular Monitoring by the Multi-partite Monitoring Team (MMT), Marine Assessment 

Studies/Surveys, and Social & Environmental Development Programs such as expanded 

mangrove areas, initiated and supported livelihood projects, implemented reforestation 

programs on the island and cultivated marine sanctuary, i.e., giant clams and abalones. 

The Company has spent ₱547.96 Million for these activities from 1999-2013.  The 

Company has established an Environmental Monitoring Fund for MMT, which has an 

initial amount of ₱600,000.00 determined by the work and financial plan of the 

Monitoring Team.  Also, an Environmental Guarantee Fund was established with a cash 

component of 1.5 Million.  This enables the continued mining operations of the 

Company.  

 

(xiv) Total number of employees. - The average number of personnel of the Company is -

2,371 and 2,158 for the years 2013 and 2012, respectively, inclusive of employees based 

at the Company’s head office in Makati. Out of the 2,371 personnel for 2013, 563 are 

employed by the Company while the rest are employed by the Company’s contractor, 

DMC Construction Equipment Resources, Inc., an affiliate of Dacon Corporation. The 

Company does not anticipate hiring additional employees for the ensuing year except 

when due to contingencies resulting in separation, resignation, termination of services of 

existing employees. The breakdown of the Company’s employees according to type, are 

as follows:  

 

Executive 11 

Managers 15 

Supervisors 66 

Rank and File 471 

Total 563 

 

On the other hand, in 2013 the average number of personnel working at SCPC’s Calaca 

Power Plants are 299, 214 of which are employees of the O&M contractor. In 2012 its 

workforce were 378. As of February 10, 2014, SLPGC has 40 employees while the 

Company’s other subsidiaries, namely: SIPDI, SCI, SEUI, SBPGC, and SRPGC are non-

operational, hence, no employees were hired. 

 

The CBA was signed between the Company and Semirara Mining Corporation Labor 

Union (SMCLU) last December 14, 2006, which will last five (5) years after effectivity.  

There was a notice of strike which, however, did not materialize due to settlement 

resulting in the signing of the new CBA. After the expiration of the CBA on August 31, 

2011, no new CBA was executed by SMCLU and the Company.  Meanwhile, there are no 

existing labor unions in the Company’s subsidiaries. 

 

(xv) Major Risks.  - Major business risks are operational, regulatory, and financial risks.  For 

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies, please see details in Note 28 to the 

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements.  The operational and regulatory risks are 

being mitigated by the company’s compliance to its IMS Policy which is ISO certified.  

Its Integrated Management System (IMS) covers the following:  Quality Management 

System (ISO9001:2008), Environmental Management System (ISO 14001:2004) and 

Occupational, Health and Safety System (OHSAS 18001:2007).  The Company is ISO 

certified since 2008.  Meanwhile, its power subsidiary mitigates its business risks by 

employing equipment redundancy to manage the risk of prolonged unplanned shutdowns 

and by securing business interruption insurance for its power plants. 

 
B. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

 

(1) Property. - The mine site located in Semirara Island, Caluya, Antique, is part of the coal mining 

reservation under Proclamation No. 649 issued by then President Manuel L. Quezon on November 

20, 1940.  Certain areas in the mine site are leased with rental payments of ₱6.18 million for 2013. 
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The infrastructures and road network, office administration buildings, and power plants, are some 

of the improvements made by the Company on the leased area, as well as the following: 

 
a. Building/Offices: Units  Units 

Administration Building 1 MS1 near Hospital 1 

Analab Building 1 MS2 Building 1 

Briquetting Building 1 MS4 Building 1 

Civil Works Office & Warehouse 1 MS5 Building 1 

Coal Power Plant 1 MS7 Building 1 

Coal Silo 4 Oxygen/Acetylene Building 2 

Core House 1 Panama Complex 1 

CRO Office 1 Pitshop 1 

Diesel/Bunker Power Plant 1 Product Office 1 

Drilling shop 1 RMO Office 1 

Genset Shed at CPP 1 Sand Blasting Plant 1 

HRD Office & Library 1 Shipping Office 1 

Humic Acid Plant 1 Splicing Building 1 

Lime Plant 1 Tire Shop 1 

Magazine Building 3 Warehouse 1 

Main Workshop 1 Warehouse Auxiliary Building 1 

Mayflower Motorpool 1 Washing Plant Office 1 

Motorpool 1     

 
b. Housing: Units  Units 

Altar Boys Quarter 1 Lebak Housing 145 

Group Staff House 2 Molave Housing (Laborer's Unit) 911 

Individual Staff House 3 Pinatubo Housing 51 

Kalamansig Housing 78 Staff House at Tabunan 2 

Laborer’s Clusters 1-7 58 Waffle Crete Building 2 

Altar Boys Quarter 1 Lebak Housing 145 

 
c. Others: Units  Units 

Classrooms for Bunlao Elem School 6 Messhall at Tabunan 1 

Classrooms for Mother School 10 Messhall at waffle crete 1 

Classrooms for Semirara High School 12 Mix Commercial Building 3 

Classrooms for Tinogboc ElemSchool 10 Multi-purpose Gym 3 

Classrooms for Villaresis Elem School 4 Multi-purpose Hall at Bunlao 1 

Coast Guard Building 1 Multi-purpose Hall at Phase 1 1 

Commissary Building 1 Multi-purpose Hall at Phase 4 1 

Commuter terminal 1 ONB ATM Machine Building 1 

Covered tennis court 1 ONB Semirara Branch 1 

Divine Word School of Semirara 4 Oval at Pinagpala Area 1 

DWSSI Gym 1 Pall Water Filtration Plant 1 

Foodcourt 1 Pottery Building 1 

Gantry at Mayflower 1 Pump house & landscaping 1 

Gantry at MWS 1 Semirara Airstrip 1 

Grotto 1 Semirara Library Hub 1 

Guadalupe Church 1 Semirara Plaza 1 

Hangar 3 Semirara Training Center (STCI) 3 

HTPC Convent 1 Sitio Villaresis pier 1 

Ice Plant 1 Slaughter House 1 

Material Recovery Facility 1 Slipway 1 

Messhall 1 1 SMC Infirmary 1 

Messhall at Cluter 5 1 Smart Site Tower 1 

Messhall at Cluter 7 1 Tabunan Hatchery & Laboratory 1 

 

All properties with the net book values are active assets.  These are all located in Semirara Island, 

Caluya, Antique (mine site).  All properties are free of any liens and encumbrances except some 

mining equipment used as collateral for the Company’s loans.  The Company also invested in 

mining and other equipment worth ₱1.050 billion, ₱1.683 billion, and ₱2.043 billion for 2013, 

2012 and 2011, respectively. 

 

On the other hand, its power subsidiary, SCPC owns the following equipment, structures, 

buildings and improvements located over parcels of land subject of a lease contract for 25 years 

from the Power Sector Assets Liabilities and Management Corporation (PSALM) at Calaca, 

Batangas with rental payments of ₱150.57 million to cover the entire duration of the lease: 
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1. 2x300 MW units of the Calaca Power Plant with its major components and accessories 

2. Staff Housing Units 

3. Guest House 

4. Pier 

5. Conveyor Unloading System 

6. Coal Stockyard 

7. Administrative Building 

8. Motorpool 

 

On July 4, 2011, SCPC exercised its option to buy several parcels of land with an aggregate area of 

29.3 hectares, subject of the lease from PSALM all located within the premises of the Calaca 

Power Plants.  SCPC assigned to its option to buy over an additional 8.2 hectare lot to the 

Company which option was exercised on July 4, 2011.  Said 8.2 hectares was later sold by the 

Company to SLPGC on August 28, 2013. 

   

(2) Mining and Oil Companies. - The mining claims are located in Semirara Island, Caluya, Antique 

covering an area of 3,832 hectares.   On March 10, 1999, the Company was granted an Exploration 

Permit for a period of two years and renewable for a like period for a maximum of 6 years.  The 

Exploration Permit is for limestone, silica and other quarry minerals. On June 28, 2004, the Mines 

& Geoscience Bureau issued a renewal of the permit.  The Company during the term of the 

Exploration Permit undertook geological mapping, rock sampling and analysis and beneficiation 

testing. The preliminary exploration conducted by the Company indicates a considerate resource of 

limestone, silica and clay with potential commercial value.  As of December 31, 2013, the 

Company’s application to convert its Exploration Permit to Mineral Production Sharing 

Agreement (MPSA) remains pending with the Mines & Geosciences Bureau. 

 

Meanwhile, on September 10, 2012 the Technical Report on Bobog Coal Deposit was released, 

which showed a resource estimates of 27.5 million metric tons of measured and 9 million metric 

tons of indicated in situ coal in Bobog mine.  The coal resource is contained in 26 seams but only 

19 were considered in the estimate as mineable due to thickness, quality and consistency factors.  

Of the 19 seams, 12 attained thickness greater than 3 meters and occasionally up to 20 meters.  The 

coal resource has a heating value ranging from 6,930 to 10,149 BTU/lb, with a mass-weighted 

average of 9,500 BTU/lb.  Under the ASTM classification of coal by rank, the seams in Bobog 

range from Sub-bituminous B to Sub-bituminous A.  Eleven (11) major and thirty seven (37) 

minor coal seams have been interpreted and correlated from the Bobog drillholes.  The major coal 

seams are seams 10, 22, 23, 31, 32, 33, 41, 42, 43, 44, and 45.  A coal seam is categorized as major 

seam if it contains at least one million metric tons of coal resources.  Intersected thiCkness of 

major seams ranged up to 25 meters.  The Bobog database for most of the major seams is highly 

robust, especially in portions where resource is large.  A total of 2,834 rows of data from the 

Bobog drillholes were reviewed.  The major seams have significant data coverage.  For minor 

seams, the database is not as robust because only few drillholes intersected them, and for this 

reason in-fill drilling is recommended.  As of December 31, 2013, development and mining 

preparatory activities such as construction of access roads, pier and other mining facilities are 

ongoing. The Company estimates first initial production by last quarter of 2014. 

 

C. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

The following are the existing legal cases of the Company: 

 

1. The HGL Case. - Sometime in January 2004, the Company received a complaint filed by HGL 

Development Corporation (“HGL”). The facts are as follows: 

 

On August 28, 1984, HGL entered into a Forest Land Grazing Lease Agreement (FLGLA No. 

184) with the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (“DENR”) covering a 367-

hectare land located at the barrios of Bobog and Pontod, Semirara, Antique. In its Order dated 

December 6, 2000, the DENR cancelled FLGLA No. 184 explaining that the subject area is within 

the coverage of Proclamation No. 649, which set apart the island of Semirara in the Province of 

Antique as coal mining reservations.  HGL filed a letter requesting a reconsideration of the Order 

but the request was denied in the DENR’s letter-Order dated December 9, 2002. 
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The Caloocan Case:  

On November 17, 2003, HGL filed a complaint against the DENR for specific performance and 

damages in Branch 121, Regional Trial Court of Caloocan City (RTC-Caloocan). HGL prayed that 

DENR should perform its obligations under FLGLA No. 184 and pay HGL for moral and 

exemplary damages and attorneys’ fees. 

 

On March 2, 2004, the Company filed a Motion for Intervention because the Order canceling 

FLGLA No. 184 sought to be reconsidered by HGL covers property located in the island of 

Semirara, Antique, which was granted by RTC-Caloocan. Subsequently, the Company filed a 

Motion to Dismiss on the ground of lack of cause of action/jurisdiction and forum shopping.  The 

Company’s prayer for dismissal and its subsequent Motion for Reconsideration having been both 

denied, the Company filed its Petition for Review with the Court of Appeals (CA) on November 

28, 2005 on the premise that RTC-Caloocan has no jurisdiction over the case. 

 

On January 16, 2007, the CA reversed RTC–Caloocan’s decision and finding grave abuse of 

discretion on the part of the presiding judge for failing to dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction.  

The CA ruled that the DENR Order canceling the FLGLA No. 184 of HGL had long been final 

and executory on account of its failure to appeal said Order to the Office of the President.  

Eventually, HGL’s Motion for Reconsideration was denied by the CA and accordingly dismissed 

the case. 

 

Due to CA’s denial of HGL’s Motion for Reconsideration, a Petition for Certiorari (SC G.R. No. 

177844, 2
nd

 Division) was filed by HGL before the Supreme Court (SC) on November 14, 2007, 

which was denied by the SC for failure of HGL to sufficiently show any reversible error in the 

assailed CA decision and further denies HGL’s motion for leave and first and second motions of 

time to file a reply to the Company’s comments on the petition.  HGL’s Motion for 

Reconsideration was denied with finality by the SC on July 2, 2008. 

 

Meanwhile, in a case docketed as SC G.R. No. 180401, 1
st
 Division (DENR vs. HGL), DENR’s 

Petition for Certiorari was denied by the SC on February 4, 2008.  DENR then filed its Motion for 

Reconsideration on March 25, 2009, which later denied by the SC with finality. 

 

Citing as basis the dismissal of the Culasi Case (SMC vs. HGL) on the ground of forum shopping, 

SMC filed a Motion to Dismiss with RTC-Caloocan (Civil Case No. C-20675).  However, RTC-

Caloocan denied the motion on December 24, 2008 and cited the SC decision on G.R. No. 180401 

(DENR vs. HGL) to sustain its decision to retain jurisdiction over the case.  With the denial of its 

MR on June 24, 2009 (CA-G.R. SP No. 110460).  On October 3, 2013 the CA dismissed the 

Corporation’s petition to which a Motion for Reconsideration was filed on November 22, 2013.  

The case is pending to date. 

   

The Culasi Case: 

HGL also filed a separate case against the Company on November 17, 2003 in Branch 13 of the 

Regional Trial Court of Culasi, Antique (RTC-Culasi) for the recovery of their alleged possession 

of a 367-hectare land located at the barrios of Bobog and Pontod, Semirara, Antique. HGL prayed 

for (i) the issuance of a preliminary mandatory injunction in order to secure immediate possession 

of the property pending litigation, and (ii) actual, moral and exemplary damages and attorney’s 

fees in the total amount of P10 million. The Company received the summons on January 15, 

2004. 

 

On February 6, 2004, the Company filed its Answer and prayed for the outright dismissal of the 

case for being baseless and unfounded as the Order canceling FLGLA No. 184 had long been 

final and executory and can no longer be disturbed.  The Company claims exemplary and moral 

damages and attorneys’ fees. 

 

On September 16, 2004, the RTC-Culasi granted HGL’s prayer for preliminary mandatory 

injunction, which order was affirmed by the CA-Cebu.  The Company elevated the case to the SC 

by way of Certiorari with prayer for Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) and/or Injunction to be 

issued against HGL, the CA-Cebu and RTC-Culasi. The SC initially granted the TRO on March 2, 

2005, but on December 06, 2006, the SC denied the Company’s Petition for Certiorari and lifted 

the TRO.  On January 18, 2007, the Company filed a Motion for Reconsideration and later on 

January 25, 2007 due to the ruling by the CA in the Caloocan Case filed a Supplemental Motion 
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for Reconsideration.  On February 14, 2007, the SC denied with finality the Company’s Motion for 

Reconsideration and its supplement to the aforesaid motion for lack of merit. 

 

Meanwhile, on July 16, 2007, the RTC-Culasi dismissed the main case, as the two (2) cases filed 

by HGL was a deliberate violation of the rule on forum shopping.  RTC-Culasi further stated in its 

decision that in both cases, HGL’s cause of action rests on the validity of its FLGLA No. 184.  

HGL filed its Motion for Reconsideration, but on November 20, 2007, RTC-Culasi ruled against 

HGL.  No appeal was taken by HGL. 

 

Thereafter, on February 5, 2008, HGL filed before the SC a Petition for Indirect Contempt 

docketed as “HGL Development Corporation, represented by its President, Henry G. Lim, 

Petitioner vs. Hon. Rafael L. Penuela, in his capacity as Presiding Judge of RTC-Culasi, Antique, 

Branch 13, and Semirara Coal Corporation (now Semirara Mining Corporation, Respondents,” 

SC G.R. No. 181353.  HGL alleged, among others, that the dismissal of the Culasi case constitutes 

indirect contempt as HGL was not able to implement the SC’s decision dated December 6, 2006 

(affirming the earlier order of RTC-Culasi granting HGL’s prayer for preliminary mandatory 

injunction) and resolution dated February 14, 2007, as RTC-Culasi dismissed the main case or the 

Culasi case on the ground of forum shopping.  The Company filed its Comments/Opposition to the 

Petition.  Subsequently, the SC required the parties to submit their respective Memoranda.  The 

case is pending to date. 

 

2. Tax Refund/Credit Case. - The Company filed several cases against the Commissioner of 

Internal Revenue (CIR) before the Court of Tax Appeals (CTA) for tax credit/refund due to 

erroneously withheld and remitted VAT on coal sales by National Power Company (NPC) to the 

Bureau of Internal Revenue in the total amount of ₱190,500,981.23. 

 

2.1. CTA Case No. 7717. – On October 13, 2009, the CTA rendered a Decision granting the 

Company’s petition in the amount of ₱11,847,055.07 for the month of December 2005.  The 

CIR moved for reconsideration.  After the Company filed its comment on November 21, 2009, 

the CTA on August 10, 2010 issued a Writ of Execution on its decision dated October 15, 

2009.  The Writ of Execution was served to BIR on August 13, 2010.  Notwithstanding this, 

the Company’s tax credit certificate remained pending with the BIR. 

 

2.2. Commissioner of Internal Revenue vs. Semirara Mining Corporation, SC G.R. No. 202534 

(CTA EB No. 752). – On January 4, 2011, the CTA granted the Company’s petition in the 

amount of ₱15,292,054.91 for the month of January 2007.  CIR’s Motion for Reconsideration 

was denied on March 18, 2011.  CIR appealed the case to CTA En Banc (CTA EB No. 752) 

but the CTA En Banc dismissed the CIR’s petition for lack of merit.  The CIR again moved to 

reconsider the En Banc decision, but was denied on June 28, 2012.  Thereafter, the CIR filed a 

petition for review on certiorari with the Supreme Court, to which the Company filed a 

comment.  The petition remains pending to date. 

 

2.3. Commissioner of Internal Revenue vs. Semirara Mining Corporation, SC G.R. No. 202922 

(CTA EB No. 772). – On February 10, 2011, the CTA granted the Company’s petitions in the 

amount of ₱86,108,626.10 for the period covering January 1, 2006 to June 30, 2006.  On 

February 22, 2011, as CIR’s Motion for Reconsideration was denied, it elevated the case to 

the CTA En Banc (CTA EB No. 772), but was by the CTA En Banc on June 22, 2012.  The 

CIR filed a Motion for Reconsideration but was again denied by CTA on September 17, 2012.  

The CIR elevated the case to the Supreme Court (SC) via a Petition for Review on November 

5, 2012, but was denied in a minute resolution dated January 30, 2013.  On October 10, 2013 

an Entry of Judgment was issued.  The Corporation filed its Motion for Issuance of a Writ of 

Execution with the CTA which was granted on January 21, 2014.   

 

2.4. Commissioner of Internal Revenue vs. Semirara Mining Corporation, SC G.R. No. 202922 

(CTA EB No. 793). - On March 28, 2011, the CTA grated SMC’s petition in the amount of 

P77,253,245.39 for the periods covering July 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006.  The CIR’s 

Motion for Reconsideration was denied on June 3, 2011.  The CIR elevated the case to the 

CTA En Banc (CTA EB 793), but the CTA dismissed the petition on April 23, 2012 for lack of 

merit.  As the CIR’s Motion for Reconsideration was likewise denied on May 29, 2012, it 

filed a petition with the Supreme Court.  The Corporation filed a Comment on December 28, 
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2012 to the CIR’s Petition.  On October 25, 2013, the SC issued a notice grating the CIR’s 

Motion to Admit Reply and a copy of the Reply.  The case remains pending to date. 

 

3. SMC vs. Municipality of Calaca, RTC- Makati City, Branch 137, Civil Case No. 07-180 

(Business Tax Case).  - On February 26, 2007, the Company filed a complaint () to seek the 

reversal and cancellation of the tax assessment by the Municipality of Calaca for unpaid business 

tax for the CY 2003, 2004 and 2005 in the amount of ₱66,685,189.00.  The basis of the claim is 

that since coal is being delivered to the port of Calaca and that the Company is doing business 

there as shown by the existence of an office; therefore, the situs of taxation is in Calaca.  The 

Company maintains that it is not maintaining an office in the Municipality of Calaca, despite 

delivery to NPC-Calaca, hence the proper situs of taxation is not in Calaca but in its principal 

office.  The Corporation presented all its witnesses and submitted its formal offer of documentary 

exhibits.  Subsequent hearings will be for presentation of defendant’s evidence. 

 

4. Municipality of Caluya, Antique vs. SMC, RTC-Culasi, Branch 13, Civil Case No. C-051 (Real 

Property Tax Case). - On February 19, 2008, the Municipality of Caluya Antique filed a case 

against the Company for enforcement of the compromise agreement submitted to the RTC on 

November 17, 2003 involving the balance of ₱82,979,702.24 in real property taxes for lots located 

in Semirara Island.  The Company maintains that the Motion for Execution has no legal basis and 

premature due to a clause in the compromise agreement requiring the parties first determines the 

correctness of the tax assessments which shall be subject to the verification of the parties.  The 

parties submitted on October 11, 2012 a Compromise Agreement dated July 2, 2012 for approval 

of the Court.  To date the Court has yet to issue an order approving the Compromise Agreement. 

 

5. Power & Synergy, Inc. vs. SMC, et. al, RTC-QC, Branch 97, Civil Case No. Q-10-66936 

(Specific Performance Case). – The complaint alleges fraudulent acts against the Company and its 

directors and officers, and prayed that defendants jointly and severally perform and comply with 

the terms and conditions under the Consultancy Agreement.  PSI is in effect claiming a success fee 

of ₱1.3 billion (due to increase in coal volume sold to NPC) by the end of 2010.  On June 2, 2010, 

moved for the dismissal for lack of jurisdiction over the case, improper venue in so far as other 

individual defendants are concerned, and the complaint states no cause of action.  The RTC 

required PSE to pay the correct docket fees, but PSI moved for reconsideration. To date, the Court 

is yet to rule on both motions of the Corporation and PSI. 

 

6. Gabinete, et. al. vs. SMC, et. al, Civil Case No. 210-C, MCTC-Pandan, Antique (Forcible Entry 

Case). – The complaint hinges from the alleged entry of the Company to a portion of plaintiffs’ 

properties located in Barangay Alegria, Caluya, Antique.  Plaintiffs’ prayed to the Court to order 

defendants to vacate the properties and pay damages and attorney fees.  On March 10, 2014 the 

Corporation submitted its affidavits and position paper.. 

 

7. Gabinete, et. al. vs. SMC, et. al., Civil Case No. C-260, RTC-Culasi, Antique, Branch 13 
(Annulment of Deeds of Sale Case). – The complaint seeks the annulment of deeds of sale plaintiff 

executed with the defendant George G. San Pedro covering parcels of land located in Brgy. 

Alegria, Caluya, Antique due to alleged unsound mind of the plaintiff at the time of execution.  

After defendants filed their answer, the RTC scheduled the pre-trial conference on February 10, 

2014. 

 

8. Bornea, Jr., vs. SMC, et. al., NLRC-Cagayan de Oro City, NLRC Case No. RAB-IX-11-00663-

11 (Illegal Dismissal Case). - This is an illegal dismissal case filed by Engr. Bornea docketed as 

with the Arbitration Branch of Davao seeking for his reinstatement as the Foreman Supervisor of 

the Company’s mining facility in Caluya, Antique.  Bornea alleged that there was no justifiable 

ground to dismiss and that due process was not observed.  On April 24, 2012, the Labor Arbiter 

resolved to dismiss the complaint for lack of merit.  Bornea appealed the case, but the NLRC-

Cagayan de Oro City likewise dismissed the appeal for lack of merit in its Decision dated 

December 28, 2012.  On February 19, 2013, Bornea moved to reconsider the NLRC decision, but 

the NLRC in its Resolution dated March 27, 2013 dismissed the motion for lack of merit.  Despite 

this, Bornea filed with the CA a Petition for Certiorari under Rule 65.  The same remains pending 

to date. 

 

9. Semirara Mining Corporation vs. Bureau of Internal Revenue, et. al., Civil Case No. 13-1171, 

RTC-Makati, Branch 146 (Declaratory Relief with Injunction against BIR, etc.). – This is a case 
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filed by the Corporation against the BIR, Bureau of Customs & Department of Finance under Civil 

Case No. 13-1171, RTC Makati Br. 146.  On May 21, 2013 SMC was granted a Certificate of 

Qualification for Tax Exemption under PD 972 by the DOE for its 36,000,000 liters of diesoline.  

SMC made 1
st
 partial shipment of 6,176,367 liters.  BIR assessed VAT and excise tax on said 

shipment in the amount of P25 M which was paid under protest.  As a result SMC filed a petition 

for Declaratory Relief with the RTC on October 3, 2013 seeking to enjoin BIR, BOC from 

implementing BIR RR No. 2-2012 by imposing advance payment of VAT on SMC importation of 

diesel fuel for its own use and consumption.  BIR rationalizes its issuance of RR No. 2-2012 for 

the purpose of curtailing smuggling.  While under said regulations payment of VAT is subject to 

right of refund by SMC (effectively 0% rated) being exempted from VAT under its COC and PD 

972, SMC contested the application of said regulation as it effectively diminishes its exemption 

granted by law and impairs the rights under its COC pursuant to the non-impairment clause of the 

Constitution.  On October 30, 2013, SMC secured a 20-day TRO and on November 21, 2013 the 

court issued a preliminary injunction against the BIR, BOC and DOF in so far as the 

implementation of said regulation specifically against the Corporation. To date the case remains 

pending. 

 

10. Fajardo vs. Semirara Mining Corp., et. al., Civil Case No. C-271, RTC-Culasi, Antique, Branch 

13 (Environmental Case (Writ of Kalikasan). – Was filed pursuant to Supreme Court A.M. 09-6-8-

SC on Rules of Procedures for Environmental Cases (Rules).  Complainant prayed for Temporary 

Environmental Protection Order (TEPO) for 72 hours from receipt of the complaint for the alleged 

irresponsible coal mining, serious destruction of the island, pollution of marine and coral reefs, 

damage to marine life, among others.  Defendants filed their respective answer, but no TEPO has 

been issued by the RTC to date. 

 

Except for the foregoing cases, the Company or its subsidiaries is not a party to any pending material 

legal proceedings.  It is not involved in any pending legal proceedings with respect to any of its 

properties.  Apart from the foregoing, therefore, it is not involved in any claims or lawsuits involving 

damages, which may materially affect it or its subsidiaries. 

 

PART II – SECURITIES OF THE REGISTRANT 

 

A. MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS ON REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND 

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

 

(1) Market Information 

(a) Principal market where the registrant’s common equity is traded. - The Company is listed 

in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).  There has been no substantial trading since 1983 or 

17 years.  However in 2004, DMCI Holdings, Inc. (DHI) increased its shareholdings from 

74.36% to 94.51%.  The National Development Company (NDC) shares were decreased from 

21.27% to 4.55% shares and the others from 4.3% to 0.94% shares.  None of them sold their 

shares hence, no substantial trading occurred.  These changes in the percentage of holdings 

resulted from the equity restructuring of the Company's authorized capital stock and the 

subscription of DHI of 19,120,581 additional shares in 2004. 

 

In February 2005, new additional shares of 46,875,000 were sold to the public by the 

Company in its international offer.  Also in the same public offering, DHI as selling 

shareholder sold 58,171,000 reducing its shareholdings from 94.51% to 60%.  

 

On April 8, 2010, the Company sold through PSE its treasury shares equivalent to 19,302,200 

at ₱67.00 per share.  In June 2010, by way of Stock Rights Offering, the Company offered for 

subscription 59,375,000 common shares to eligible existing stockholders at the ratio of 1:5 

shares as of record date, July 1, 2010. 

 

The market capitalization of the Company as of end-2012, based on the closing price of 

₱233.40 is approximately ₱83.1 billion.  As of March 31, 2014, the Company’s capitalization 

stood at ₱146.06 billion based on the ₱410.00/share closing price. 

 

(b) The Company’s security was traded at the PSE at a price of ₱0.40/share on December 23, 

2002. There was no trading of the Company’s securities in 2003 and 2004. The highs and 

lows (in Pesos) of trading during the past three (3) years are as follows: 
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(2) Holders. – As of March 10, 2014 the Company has 664 shareholders, with 356,250,000 common 

shares issued and outstanding. 

 

Title Of Class Name Number Of 

Shares Held 

% of Total 

Common DMCI Holdings, Inc. 200,647,533 56.32 

Common PCD Nominee Corp.  (Filipino) 48,243,331 13.54 

Common Dacon Corporation 43,608,509 12.24 

Common PCD Nominee Corp. (Foreign) 42,378,964 11.90 

Common  Others 21,371,663 06.00 

 

Names of Top Twenty (20) Stockholders as of March 10, 2014: 

 

No. Name of Stockholders No. of Shares Percentage
4
 

1. DMCI Holdings, Incorporated 200,647,533 56.32 

2. PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino) 48,243,331 13.54 

3. Dacon Corporation 43,608,509 12.24 

4. PCD Nominee Corp. (Foreign) 42,378,964 11.90 

5. National Development Company 11,364,658 3.19 

6. DFC Holdings, Inc. 6,614,003 1.86 

7 Fernwood Investments, Inc. 796,334 0.22 

8. Privatization and Management Office 769,450 0.22 

9. Double Spring Investments Corp. 449,664 0.13 

10. Guadalupe Holdings Corp. 348,372 0.10 

11. Augusta Holdings, Inc. 253,475 0.07 

12. Berit Holdings Corporation 150,937 0.04 

13. Meru Holdings, Inc. 115,600 0.03 

14. Cobankiat, Johnny O. 92,920 0.03 

15 Freda Holdings, Inc. 91,691 0.03 

16. Vendivel, Olga P. 80,000 0.02 

17. Garcia, Jaime B. 40,030 0.01 

18. Windermere Holdings, Inc. 35,077 0.01 

19. Fernwood Investments Inc. 28,109 0.01 

20. Teng, Ching Bun 15,000 0.00 

 

                                                 
3 As of March 10, 2014. 
4 Based on the Corporation’s issued and outstanding shares recorded with its Stock and Transfer Agent. 

 High Low Close 

2014    

Jan-Mar
3
 418.00 281.00 387.00 

2013    

Jan-Mar  267.40 220.00 267.40 

Apr-Jun 305.80 225.00 276.80 

Jul-Sep 265.00 222.60 240.00 

Oct-Dec 306.00 240.40 288.00 

2012    

Jan-Mar  252.00 211.00 244.80 

Apr-Jun 257.80 200.00 218.20 

Jul-Sep 236.00 214.40 222.00 

Oct-Dec 234.00 217.00 233.40 

2011    

Jan-Mar  244.00 180.00 226.80 

Apr-Jun 237.00 187.00 213.40 

Jul-Sep 241.40 161.10 186.50 

Oct-Dec 226.00 170.00 221.40 
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(i) The table sets forth the record or beneficial owners of more than 5% of the outstanding 

common shares of the Corporation, which are entitled to vote and the amount of such 

record or beneficial ownership as of March 10, 2014:  

 

Title Of  

Class 

Names No. Of Shares % of Total 

Common DMCI Holdings, Inc. 200,647,533 56.32 

Common PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino) 48,243,331 13.54 

Common Dacon Corporation 43,608,509 12.24 

Common PCD Nominee Corp. (Foreign) 42,378,964 11.90 

 

(ii) each director and nominee 

 

Office Names 

Chairman David M. Consunji 

Vice-Chairman/CEO Isidro A. Consunji 

President/COO Victor A. Consunji 

Director Cesar A. Buenaventura 

Director/Resident Manager George G. San Pedro 

Director Jorge A. Consunji 

Director  Herbert M. Consunji 

Independent Director Victor C. Macalincag 

Independent Director Federico E. Puno 

Director Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun 

Director Ma. Edwina C. Laperal 

 

(iii) all directors and officers as a group, and the registrant’s present commitments to such 

persons with respect to the issuance of any class of its common equity.
5
 

 

 

Title of 

class 

 

Name of beneficial owner 

Amount and nature of  beneficial 

ownership 

 

Citizenship 

 

% 

Direct Indirect6 Total 

Common David M. Consunji 12 202 212 Filipino 0.00 

Common Isidro A. Consunji 2,012 323,306 325,318 Filipino 0.09 

Common Cesar A. Buenaventura 6,010 - 6,010 Filipino 0.00 

Common Victor A. Consunji 12 527,138 527,150 Filipino 0.15 

Common Jorge A. Consunji 12 8,262 8,274 Filipino 0.00 

Common Herbert M. Consunji 23,060 - 23,060 Filipino 0.01 

Common Victor C. Macalincag 271,630 7,000 278,630 Filipino  0.08 

Common George G. San Pedro 40,030 - 40,030 Filipino  0.01 

Common Federico E. Puno 60,010 - 60,010 Filipino  0.02 

Common Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun 119 379,098 397,098 Filipino  0.11 

Common Ma. Edwina C. Laperal 349 423,398 423,398 Filipino 0.12 

Common Jaime B. Garcia 48,036 - 48,036 Filipino  0.01 

Common Nena D. Arenas 800 - 800 Filipino 0.00 

Common Antonio R. Delos Santos 5,000 - 5,000 Filipino 0.00 

Common Jose Anthony T. Villanueva 250 4,630 4,880 Filipino 0.00 

Common Denardo M. Cuayo 1,500 - 1,500 Filipino 0.00 

Common Sharade E. Padilla 600 90 690 Filipino 0.00 

Aggregate Ownership of all directors and 

officers as a group 

459,442 1,691,122 2,150,564 Filipino  0.60 

 

(3) Dividends. - On April 4, 2005 the Board approved the Company’s Dividend Policy, which 

adopted a minimum of 20% of Net Profit After Tax starting from the period ending December 31, 

2005; provided, however, that the Board of Directors shall have the option to declare more than 

20% if there is excess cash and less than 20% if no sufficient cash is available.  Below are 

dividends declared for the past two (2) years: 

 

                                                 
5 See also the beneficial ownership under Part IV(C)(2), pg. 41. 
6 Shares are either held by members of the family sharing the same household or by a corporation of which the reporting 
person is a controlling shareholder. 
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Year Board Approval Nature Dividend/Share Record Date Payment Date 

2012 4-30-2012 Cash ₱12.00 5-29-2012 6-25-2012 

2013 4-30-2013 Cash ₱12.00 5-17-2013 5-29-2013 

 

(4) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities. - No unregistered securities were sold in 2013, 2012 

and 2011. 

 

(5) Minimum Public Ownership Report. – Pursuant to the requirement of the Philippine Stock 

Exchange, particularly Section 3, Art. XVIII of its Continuing Listing Requirements Listing and 

Disclosure Rules, the Company’s minimum public ownership as of December 31, 2013 is 27.49%. 

 

PART III - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

A. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (YEARS 2010-2013) 

 

Full years 2012-2013 

 

I. PRODUCTION AND OPERATIONS 

 

Coal 

On 13 Feb 2013, at around 11:55 PM, a section of the west wall of Panian pit where the Company was 

concluding its mine operation gave way, affecting 13 personnel.  Three have been rescued, five were 

confirmed dead, and five are still missing.  Management immediately voluntarily stopped all mining 

activities in the site even before the receipt of notice from the Department of Energy (DOE) for stop 

operations. 

 

On 5 March 2013, DOE issued clearance to the Company to do preparatory activies, excluding coal 

extraction, for the new area, the North Panian, after it has reviewed and evaluated the work program for the 

site.   

 

Subsequently, on 19 April 2013, the Company received full clearance from DOE to proceed with the coal 

production activity.  Since then, all mining operations have returned to normal. 

 

The incident at the mine caused a a temporary slump in coal mining operations.  However, mining activities 

were able to catch up, such that total materials moved increased 7% YoY at 82.15 million bank cubic 

meters (bcm) from 77.07 million bcm last year.  Strip ratio increased by 20% YoY at 9.73:1 from 8.66:1 

last year.  The increase is mainly due to the spike in strip ratio to 18.79:1 in Q1 after the Company stopped 

producing coal, but continued waste stripping.   Run-of-mine (ROM) coal dropped by 5% YoY at 7.86 

million metric tons (MTs) from 8.24 million MTs in 2012.  A significant 45% drop YoY in washable coal 

at 727 thousand MTs from 1.31 million MTs last year was recorded as a result of improved coal quality.  

Net total product coal was almost the same at 7.62 million MTs and 7.63 million MTs in 2013 and 2012, 

respectively.  

 

Total volume sold increased by 1% YoY at 7.63 million MTs from 7.18 million MTs last year.  Coal 

shipments recorded an improvement in average heating value from 9,510 btu/lbs in 2012 to 9,676 btu/lbs.  

Coal ending inventory dropped by 8% YoY, closing at 1.28 million MTs from 1.38 million MTs last year as 

a result of higher sales volume.   

 

The table below shows the comparative quarterly production data for 2013 and 2012. 
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Q1 '13 Q2 '13 Q3 '13 Q4 '13 YTD '13 Q1 '12 Q2'12 Q3'12 Q4'12 YTD '12
% Inc 

(Dec)

   Total Materials (bcm)   16,001   23,575   18,081   24,492   82,149   22,303   19,273   15,666   19,830   77,072 7%

   ROM Coal (MT)        820     2,403     1,858     2,779     7,861     1,805     2,220     1,739     2,472     8,236 -5%

   Strip Ratio  18.79:1  9.10:1  9.02:1  8.09:1  9.73:1  11.64:1  7.97:1  8.30:1  7.38:1  8.66:1 -10%

   Net TPC (MT)        900     2,278     1,762     2,674     7,615     1,651     2,089     1,579     2,337     7,657 -1%

COAL WASHING

   Washable Coal (MTs)          83        254        195        195        727        344        334        358        278     1,314 -45%

   Washed Coal (MTs)          50        153        117        117        436        206        200        215        167        788 -45%

   % recovery 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60%

Beg. Inventory (MTs)     1,383        460     1,137     1,311     1,383        992        950        963     1,276        992 39%

End Inventory (MTs)        460     1,137     1,311     1,277     1,277        950        963     1,276     1,383     1,383 -8%

COMPARATIVE PRODUCTION DATA

(in '000, except Strip Ratio)

 

Power 

Total energy generation posted a record high in 2013 at 3,460 GWh, the highest in the history of the Calaca 

Coal Fired Thermal Power plants  , posting a 46% YoY from 2,365 GWh in 2012.  

  

Lower maintenance outage offset high forced outage of Unit 1 , raising total operating hours at 7,292 , 83% 

YoY from  2,697  hours in 2012 . Moreover, raised capacity of Unit 1 offset the lower dependable capacity 

of Unit 2, bringing average capacity to 501 MW from 446 MW last year. 

 

Unit One 
There is a notable improvement in 2013 as compared to previous year’s performance. Average load of 229 

MW is 16% above 2012’s average load of 197 MW.  This is primarily due to an increase in capacity 

ranging between 230 to 245 as a result of the use of Nalco Soot Remove 9F. 

  

With higher operating hours at 7,292 hours, total generation is 1,667 Gwh, recording a 214% increase YoY 

compared to 2012’s gross generation of 531 Gwh . 

  

Capacity factor of 64% posted a significant 215% increase YoY from only 20% in 2012 as preventive 

maintenance of the plant drove availability down to 31% or operating hours of only 2,697.  

  

Forced outage was high at 21% due to a leak in the condenser in Q2 and Q4 of 2013 caused by clogging in 

some of the tubes raising the temperature to increase beyond manageable level resulting to pin hole leaks.  

  

To ensure that the sea water intake is free from any debris which may potentially cause another tube 

clogging incident, a preventive multi-layered net at sea and took on an active role in educating the 

neighboring communities on waste management. 

  

Unit Two 
 The planned maintenance shutdown in December 2012 included six critical items, of which only five were 

executed.  Replacement of Heaters 7 and 8 was deferred due to technical issue.  

  

As a result, load was limited to 272 MW out of the rated capacity of 300 MW.  This is however 9% higher 

than average capacity of 249 MW in 2012. 

  

Despite the above limitation, gross generation posted a 2% increase YoY at 1,971 Gwh from 1,932 GWh in 

2012.  

 

Availability was however lower at 83% as against 88% in 2012. 

 

The table below shows the comparative production data in 2013 and 2012. 
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II. MARKETING  

 

Coal 

Higher sales to power plants and exports offset drop in sales to cement plants and other industries.  Total 

coal sales volume increased by 6% YoY at 7.63 million MTs from 7.18 million MTs last year.  

 

The table below shows the comparative quarterly sales volume data for 2013 and 2012. 

 

Q1 '13 Q2 '13 Q3 '13 Q4 '13 YTD '13 % Q1 '12 Q2 '12 Q3 '12 Q4 '12 YTD '12 %
% Inc 

(Dec)

Power Plants

   Calaca 608   523    582    420    2,132 28% 205   285    545    456    1,492 21% 43%

Other PPs 256   216    159    159    790    10% 325   382    203    126    1,037 14% -24%

TOTAL PPs 864   739    740    578    2,922 69% 531   667    748    582    2,528 63% 16%

Other Industries

Cement 361   196    261    161    980    13% 272   338    224    220    1,053 15% -7%

Others 92     89      68      79      328    4% 98     105    128    98      430    6% -24%

Total Others 454   285    329    240    1,308 17% 370   443    352    318    1,482 21% -12%

TOTAL LOCAL  1,318   1,024   1,070      818  4,230 55%     901  1,110  1,100     900  4,011 56% 5%

EXPORT 461   556    497    1,887 3,401 45% 771   946    146    1,310 3,173 44% 7%

GRAND TOTAL  1,778   1,581   1,567   2,705  7,631 100%  1,672  2,056  1,245  2,211  7,184 100% 6%

COMPARATIVE SALES VOLUME DATA

(in '000 MTs)

CUSTOMER

 

Sales to SCPC increased by 43% YoY at 2.13 million MTs from 1.49 million MTs last year as a result of 

increased capacity and availability of both power units after rehabilitation.  

 

On the contrary, sales to other power plants dropped by 24% YoY at 790 thousand MTs from 1.04 million 

MTs last year.  Drop in global coal prices encouraged some customers to import cheap coal from offshore 

market.  Moreover, a customer has an outstanding shipping contract that it must utilize to transport coal 

from Indonesia. 

 

Sales to cement plants likewise dropped 7% YoY at 980 thousand MTs from 1.05 million MTs due to 

decrease in offtake by a few customers this year. 

 

Despite tapping two new customers this year, sales to other industries also dropped by 24% YoY at 328 

thousand MTs from 430 thousand MTs.  Some old customers decreased their offtake.  

 

Strong export sales in the last quarter drove export share to 45% of the total pie this year.  Total export sales 

of 3.40 million MTs is 7% higher than last year's 3.17 million MTs.  Mining operations are concentrated in 

the area where coal quality is better, commanding higher export prices.   

 

The 10% YoY decrease in composite average FOB price per MT at PHP2,185 from PHP2,454 last year 

reflected the drop in global coal prices. 

 

POWER  

Sales volume increased by 46% YoY at 3,460GWh from 2,365GWh in 2012. This is attributed to the higher 

energy generation of the newly rehabilitated power plants.  

 

Of the total energy sold, 96% or 3,313 GWh were sold to bilateral contracts, while the remaining 4% were 

sold in the spot market. 

Q1'13 Q2 '13 Q3 '13 Q4 '13 FY'13 Q1 '12 Q2'12 Q3'12 Q4 '12 FY'12
% Inc 

(Dec)

Gross Generation, Gwh

   Unit 1    466     358     520     323  1,667       -        -      128    403     531 214%

   Unit 2    351     525     512     584  1,971     473    478    508    473  1,932 2%

   Total Plant    816     884  1,032     907  3,638     473    478    636    876  2,463 48%

% Availability

   Unit 1 95% 70% 98% 70% 83% 0% 0% 36% 87% 31% 171%

   Unit 2 63% 86% 84% 97% 83% 88% 88% 92% 86% 88% -6%

   Total Plant 79% 78% 91% 84% 83% 44% 44% 64% 86% 60% 39%

Capacity Factor

   Unit 1 72% 54% 78% 49% 63% 0% 0% 19% 61% 20% 215%

   Unit 2 54% 79% 77% 89% 75% 72% 72% 77% 72% 73% 2%

   Total Plant 63% 67% 78% 0% 69% 36% 36% 48% 67% 47% 48%

COMPARATIVE PLANT PERFORMANCE DATA

FY2013 VS FY2012
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Sales to bilateral contracts increased by 65% YoY at 3,313 GWh from 2,007 GWh in 2012.  The 

improvement is due to increase of contract quantities for MERALCO from the initial 210 MW to 420 MW 

starting 31 January 2013, and the additional 30 MW non-firm contract capacity for TRANS-ASIA. The 

non-firm additional contract capacity arrangement with Trans-Asia which is effective starting 16 February 

2013, enables SCPC to sell its excess capacity at any given time. 

 

MERALCO maintained to be the biggest customer of SCPC comprising 87% share of the total energy sales 

for SCPC’s bilateral contracts, followed by Trans-Asia and Batelec I at 7% and 5% shares, respectively. 

 

Spot market sales volume is lower at 148GWh in 2013 against 358 GWh in 2012.  However Spot Sales 

Revenue in pesos is higher by 30% in 2013 vs 2012 due to the increase in the spot market prices in Q4.  

 

Of the total energy sold, 99% was sourced from own generation and only 1% was purchased from the spot 

market.    SCPC procured power from the spot market during hour intervals where power units were down, 

or were running at a derated capacity, in order to supply committed capacity to some of its customers.  

Contracts with some of its customer still cover the supply of replacement power under a “pass-thru” cost 

arrangement.  

 

SCPC bilateral contracts yielded lower prices at an average price of PHP3.79 per KWh in 2013 compared to 

the PHP3.97 per KWh in 2012. This is due to lower prices of pass-thru coal fuel being indexed to the lower 

Newcastle prices in 2013.    

 

On the other hand, average spot sales increased by 215% YoY at PHP14.98 per KWh from PHP4.75 per 

KWh in 2012.  High spot prices in November and December pulled up price per KWh. 

 

The table below shows the comparative sales volume data in 2013 and 2012. 

 

 
 

III. FINANCE 

 

A. Sales and Profitability 

Consolidated Revenues, net of eliminating entries, grew by 13% YoY at PHP27.33 billion as against 

PHP24.15 billion in 2012.  Coal Revenues, before elimination, dropped by 5% YoY at PHP16.68 billion 

from PHP17.63 billion in 2012 due to lower coal prices this year.  On the other hand, energy Revenues 

increased by 52% YoY at PHP14.76 billion from PHP9.7 billion last year as a result of the 46% increase in 

energy sales volume and 4% increase in average price per KWh.   

 

Consolidated Cost of Sales decreased by 4% YoY at PHP14.11 billion from PHP14.64 billion last year.   

 

Coal Cost of Sales before elimination declined by 5% YoY at PHP11.73 billion from PHP12.33 billion last 

year. Strip ratio normalized as at the end of the period from a historical high in Q1 as a result of the 

accident at the pit that temporarily halted coal extraction.  Moreover, the Company implemented some cost-

saving measures to counter the drop in coal prices,    mining strategy only required shorter hauling distance 

in North Panian while in-pit dumping allows the mine to decrease number of equipment while maintaining 

the same excavating capacity, thus 29 units of mining were put on stand-by.  Net of elimination, Cost of 

Coal Sold also dropped by 12% YoY at PHP8.66 billion from PHP9.83 billion last year.  Cost of Coal Sold 

per MT decreased by 10% YoY at PHP1,537 versus PHP1,716 last year.   

 

Power Cost of Sales before elimination increased by 17% YoY at PHP6.51 billion from PHP5.55 billion; 

and 18% after elimination at PHP4.42 billion from PHP3.75 billion last year.  Increase in volume sold 

accounted for the increase in total cost.  Notably, Cost of Sales per KWh decreased by 25% at PHP1.88 

from PHP2.35 last year due to minimal spot purchases for replacement power and lower coal fuel average 

cost this year. 

Q1 '13 Q2 '13 Q3 '13 Q4 '13 FY'13 Q1 '12 Q2'12 Q3'12 Q4'12 FY'12
% Inc 

(Dec)

Bilateral Contracts 751    838    966    757    3,313   489    427    518    573    2,007 65%

Spot Sales 20      10      17      100    148      1        1        79      278    358    -59%

GRAND TOTAL     771     849     983     858    3,460 489    428        597     851  2,365 46%

Composite Ave Price    3.89    3.91    3.66    5.65      4.26 4.14   4.41      3.73    4.15    4.09 4%

COMPARATIVE SALES VOLUME DATA

(in GWh)

CUSTOMER
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The resulting consolidated Gross Profit in 2013 increased by 39% YoY at PHP13.22 billion with the coal 

and power segments each contributing PHP3.91 billion and PHP9.31 billion, respectively.  Consolidated 

Gross Profit in 2012 stood at PHP9.51 billion, PHP4.63 billion from coal and PHP4.88 billion from power.  

Consolidated Gross profit margin improved at 48% from 39% last year. 

 

Consolidated Operating Expenses increased by 55% YoY at PHP5.26 billion from P3.40 billion in 2012.  

Net of eliminating entries, the coal segment’s Operating Expenses decreased by 17% YoY at PHP1.7 

billion from last year’s PHP2.0 billion. Lower coal Revenues decreased Government Share by 16% at 

PHP1.30 billion from PHP1.56 billion last year.  Meanwhile, the power segment's Operating Expenses after 

elimination increased by 155% YoY at PHP3.5  billion from PHP1.4 billion last year due to acceleration of 

depreciation on certain equipment/components of Unit 2 whose repair are in-progress during the 90-day 

scheduled maintenance shutdown of Unit 2 which commenced last week of December 2013. These are to 

be   replaced with new ones. Hence, the the carrying value of the affected equipment/components 

amounting to Php1.2 billion as of December 31, 2013 was fully provided with depreciation to reflect its true 

value in the books.   

 

The pre-operating Southwest Luzon Power Generation Corp. (SLPGC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company incorporated to expand its power capacity with the construction of 2 x 150 MW power plants, 

incurred PHP39.33 million pre-operating expenses, representing salaries and other administrative expenses 

incurred during the period.  Other subsidiaries, Semirara Energy Utilities, Inc. (SEU), Semirara Claystone, 

Inc. (SCI) and Sem-Cal Industrial Park Developers, Inc (SCIPDI) also incurred Pre-operating Expenses of 

PHP100.5 thousand, PHP69.17 thousand PHP30.80 thousand for the period, respectively.  Two new 

companies were incorporated during the period as vehicles for additional power expansion projects, they 

are San Rafael Power Generation Corp. (SRPGC) and Sem-Balayan Power Generation Corp. (SBPGC).  

Both companies incurred pre-operating expenses of PHP114.89 thousand and PHP194.62 thousand, 

respectively. 

 

Consolidated Income from Operations increased by 30% YoY at PHP7.96 billion from PHP6.11 billion in 

2012.  The coal and power segments contributed PHP2.19 billion and PHP5.80, respectively this year, as 

against PHP3.30 billion and PHP2.27 billion in 2012.  The other pre-operating companies, SLPGC, SEU, 

SCI, SCIPDI, SRPGC, SBPGC   incurred losses of PHP39.33 million, PHP100.50 thousand, PHP69.17 

thousand, PHP30.80 thousand, PHP114.89 thousand and PHP194.62 thousand, respectively. 

 

As the USD strengthened against the PHP this year, the Company registered consolidated Forex Losses of 

PHP481.18 million as against Gains of PHP391.00 million last year.    Since most of its loans are USD-

denominated, bulk of the current period's Forex Losses is incurred by the coal segment which recorded 

PHP463.94 million losses versus last year's gains of PHP387.83 million.  Of this amount, PHP305.93 

million are unrealized losses.  Meanwhile, with minimal Forex exposure, the power segment incurred Forex 

Losses of PHP15.49 million as against Gains of PHP3.17 million last year.  SLPGC also recorded loss of 

PHP1.75 million on its foreign exchange transactions 

 

Lower placement interest rates and lower free cash resulted to the decrease in consolidated Finance Income 

by 67% YoY at PHP26.80 million from PHP82.14 million last year.  The coal segment’s investible funds 

reduced after using most of its cash for equity of SLPGC and to pay off debts toward the end of 2012, thus 

its Finance Income decreased by 67% at PHP26.80 million from PHP82.14 million last year.  The power 

segment’s Finance Income likewise decreased by 41% at PHP24.58 million from PHP41.53 million last 

year after using its cash to pay dividends of PHP2.5 billion during the the period.   SLPGC recorded 

Finance Income of PHP217.06 thousand from short-term placements. 

 

Consolidated Finance Costs decreased by 24% YoY at PHP381.23 million from PHP501.28 million.  The 

coal segment’s interest-bearing loans increased by 31%  YoY, closing at PHP6.45 billion from PHP4.91 

billion, increasing coal Finance Costs by 24% YoY at PHP152.63 million from PHP122.61 million.  

Meanwhile,  the power segment's long-term  loan balance dropped by 23% YoY to PHP5.34 billion from 

PHP6.91 billion last yearthus bringing down power Finance Cost by 41% YoY at PHP221.61 million from 

PHP376.37 million last year.  SLPGC incurred Finance Cost of PHP6.99 million for its project financing. 

 

Consolidated Other Income dropped by 12% YoY at PHP281.21 million from PHP318.45 million.  Bulk of 

last year's Other Income came from gain on sale of retired assets of the coal segment.  Notably, the power 

segment's Other Income increased by 55% YoY at PHP203.18 million from PHP131.26 million last year.  
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Power Unit 2 used more unwashed coal this year, producing more fly ash which is sold to a cement 

company at a higher price after renegotiating the supply contract on February 2012. 

 

The resulting consolidated Net Income Before Tax (NIBT) increased by 16% YoY at PHP7.40 billion from 

PHP6.40 billion.  SCPC accounted for 78% of the 2013's NIBT, at PHP5.79 billion after elimination.  

Meanwhile, net of eliminating entries, the coal segment generated NIBTof PHP1.66 billion, while the pre-

operating SLPGC, SCI, and SEU, SCIPDI, SBGPC, and SRPGC incurred losses of PHP47.86 million, 

PHP64.45 thousand, PHP94.73 thousand, PHP32.26 thousand, PHP191.97 thousand, and PHP112.24 

thousand, respectively.  Before eliminations, power and coal recorded NIBT of PHP4.73 billion and 

PHP5.19 billion, respectively. 

 

Both operating business units enjoy Income Tax Holidays (ITH) as Board of Investments-registered 

companies.  As a result, the Company accounted for consolidated benefit from deferred income taxes of 

PHP117.84 million, net of final income taxes and income taxes for unregistered activities of PHP5.01 

million and PHP11.69 million respectively. Last year's provision totaled to PHP39.60 million.   

 

Consolidated Net Income After Tax (NIAT) increased by 18% YoY at PHP7.53 billion from PHP6.34 

billion last year.  Before eliminations, coal and power recorded NIAT of PHP5.34 billion, including PHP2.5 

billion dividend income from power segment, and PHP4.71billion, respectively. Meanwhile, after 

eliminations, the coal and power segments generated NIAT of PHP 1.80 billion, and PHP5.78 billion, 

respectively.  SCI and SCIPDI also recorded a minimal income of PHP45.90 thousand and PHP19.65 

thousand, respectively.  On the other hand, SLPGC, ,SEU, SBPGC, and SRPGC incurred start-up costs of 

PHP47.90 million, PHP63.64 thousand, PHP192.5 thousand, and PHP112.77 thousand, respectively.  

Earnings per Share (EPS) correspondingly increased by 18% YoY at PHP21.11 from PHP17.85 last year. 

 

B. Solvency and Liquidity 

Consolidated net cash provided by operating activities in 2013 amounted to PHP12.65 billion.  

Consolidated loan availments amounted to PHP15.52 billion, inclusive of SLPGC's second and third loan 

drawdowns totalling to PHP6.99 billion.  Meanwhile, sale of assets during the year generated PHP135.07 

thousand.  Net increase in other noncurrent liabilities generated PHP665.41 million, while Acquisition of a 

subsidiary – net of cash acquired recorded positive cashflow of PHP1.25 billion.  With beginning Cash of 

PHP534.39 million, total consolidated Cash available the period stood at PHP28.84 billion. 

 

Of the available cash, PHP2.45 billion was used to fund major CAPEX, PHP1.59 billion for coal segment, 

and PHP858 million for the power segment. 

 

Meanwhile, loan repayments amounted to PHP10.75 billion, PHP6.38 billion and PHP 4.37 billion for coal 

and power, respectively. 

 

The Company declared and paid cash dividends amounting to PHP4.28 billion in 2013. 

 

Additions to Property, Plant and Equipment amounted to PHP8.90 billion, which is mainly composed of the 

construction-in progress of the 2 x 150MW CFB power plant in Calaca, Batangas and 1 x 15MW power 

plant for the mine operation at Semirara Island and other mining equipment and some capitalized repairs of 

the existing 2x300MW Calaca Power Plant during the year. Other investing activities during the period also 

utilized cash, namely, other CAPEX amounting to PHP4.94 million, additions to sinking fund of PHP10.81 

million, and additions to exploration and evaluation assets amounting to PHP298.73 million. 

 

After recording positive Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents of PHP9.64 

million, Consolidated net cash generated during the period amounted to PHP4.28 billion. With a beginning 

balance of PHP534.39 million, consolidated Ending Cash closed at PHP4.82 billion, increasing by 802% 

YoY. The significant increase is attributed to strong cash generation of operations and the availment of 

scheduled loan drawdown of SLPGC which is not yet fully spent. 

 

As a result of strong cash generation, current ratio improved at 1.48x from 0.96x in 2012.  

 

C.  Financial Condition 

Consolidated Total Assets stood at PHP44.73 billion, increasing by 24% from beginning balance of 

PHP36.20 billion.  After eliminations, the coal and power segments’ Total Assets closed at PHP11.36 

billion and PHP21.51 billion, respectively.  SLPGC, SCI, SEU, SCIPDI, SBGP, SRPGC recorded Total 
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Assets of PHP11.80 billion, PHP40.61 million, PHP3.16 million, PHP2.62 million, PHP3.13 million, and 

PHP3.13 million, respectively.   

 

Consolidated Current Assets closed at PHP14.80 billion, 26% higher than beginning balance of PHP11.71 

billion.  Coal, power, SLPGC, SCI, SEU, SCIPDI, SBPGC, and SRPGC accounted for PHP7.29 billion, 

PHP6.12 billion, PHP1.37 billion, PHP2.65 million, PHP 3.13 million, PHP2.62 million, PHP 3.13 million, 

and PHP 3.13 million, respectively.   

 

Consolidated Cash and Cash Equivalents increased by 802% YoY at PHP4.82 billion from PHP534.39 

million.  The increase in Cash is mainly attributed to loan drawdown by SLPGC and cash generation from 

operations of the power segment. 

 

Consolidated net Receivables also increased by 13% YoY at PHP4.03 billion from PHP3.58 billion, 

primarily due to high Trade Receivables of power as a result of uncollected spot revenues in November and 

December bringing total Trade Receivables of power to PHP3.32 billion.  On the other hand Power also 

booked Allowance for Doubtful Accounts amounting to PHP467.43, bulk of which is the provision set up 

related to Spot Revenue for Nov and Dec 2013 billing affected by the TRO issued by the Supreme Court.  

Further, on March 11, 2014, Energy Regulatory Commission’s (ERC) Order dated March 3, 2014 in ERC 

Case No. 2014-021 MC entitled “In the Matter of the Prices in the Wholesale Electricity Spot Market 

(WESM) for the Supply Months of November and December 2013, was released. Said ERC order affects 

SEM-Calaca Power Corporation’s financial statement as well as the Corporation’s Consolidated Financial 

Statements. However, only additional disclosure was made in the notes to financial statements considering 

that the Corporation is currently not able to reasonably determine with certainty the effects of the ERC 

order on its financial statement.   

 

Total Receivables of power stood at PHP2.91 billion.  The coal segment's Receivables of PHP1.12 billion 

are mainly trade related. 

 

Consolidated Net Inventories decreased by 18% YoY at PHP4.63 billion from PHP5.66 billion in 2012.  

The coal segment’s ending Inventory of PHP3.60 billion is mainly comprised of cost of ending coal 

inventory and materials, fuel and other supplies, while the power segment’s Inventory of PHP1.02 billion is 

mainly comprised of spareparts inventory for its corrective, preventive and predictive maintenance 

program.  

 

Consolidated Other Current Assets decreased by 32% YoY at PHP1.32 billion from PHP1.94 billion.   The 

coal and power segments' Other Current Assets of PHP853.74 million and PHP436.07 million, respectively, 

are mainly comprised of creditable withholding taxes and advances to suppliers.  SLPGC recorded Other 

Current Assets of PHP29.89  million mainly for Prepaid Tax.  

 

Consolidated Non-Current Assets increased by 22% YoY at PHP29.93 billion from PHP24.48 billion.  

Coal, power, SLPGC, SCI and SEU accounted for PHP4.07 billion, PHP15.39 billion, PHP10.43 billion, 

PHP37.97 billion and PHP30.15 thousand, respectively. 

 

Consolidated net PPE increased by 20% YoY at PHP27.29 billion from PHP22.72 billion as at end of 2012.  

The increase is due to new acquisitions, particularly of SLPGC, partially offset by depreciation.  The 

equipment involved in the incident at Panian west wall were all fully depreciated. Coal, power, and SLPGC 

accounted for net PPE of PHP3.39 billion, PHP14.72 billion, and PHP9.18 billion, respectively. 

 

Sinking Fund of the power segment increased by 2% YoY at PHP517.60 million from PHP508.04 million. 

This represents interest income earned for the equivalent of one quarter repayment posted in the debt 

service reserve account which is restricted in nature and placed overnight as provided for in the loan 

agreement covering the long-term loan of the power segment.  

 

Exploration and Evaluation Asset of PHP348.15 is newly set-up by the coal segment accounting for pre-

stripping and mine development for Bobog mine. 

 

Consolidated Deferred Tax Assets increased 1,202% at PHP139.96 million from PHP10.75 million.  This is 

mainly accounted by the coal segment amounting to PHP135.18 million.  Power recorded PHP4.74 million 

covering additional provision related to pension expense, while SCI had PHP2.37 thousand NOLCO.  SEU 

also recorded Deferred Tax Assets of PHP30.15 thousand. 
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Consolidated Other Non-Current Assets increased by 32% YoY at PHP1.64 billion from PHP1.24 billion as 

at end of in 2012.  This is mainly comprised of input VAT withheld on acquisition of capital goods and 

services of PHP974.90 million, input VAT withheld of Php164.53 million net of impairment allowance, 

advances for long-term construction contracts and prepaid rent of Php448.66 million, capitalized research 

and development costs of Php37.96 million and other miscellaneous non-current assets amounting to 

Php13.70 million.  Coal, power, and SLPGC accounted for Other Non-Current Assets of PHP191.53 

million, PHP147.89 million, and PHP1.26 billion, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Total Liabilities increased by 27% YoY at PHP24.60 billion from PHP19.32 billion.  Coal, 

power, SLPGC, SCI, SEU, SCIPDI, SBPGC, and SRPGC accounted for PHP10.95 billion, PHP7.12 

billion, PHP6.63 billion, PHP44.00 thousand, PHP37.57 thousand, PHP64.76 thousand, PHP27.50 

thousand, and PHP27.50 thousand, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Total Current Liabilities decreased by 18% YoY at PHP9.99 billion from PHP12.17.  Coal, 

power, SLPGC, SCI, SEU, SCIPDI, SBPGC and SRPGC accounted for PHP6.58 billion, PHP3.18 billion, 

PHP234.87 million, PHP44 thousand, PHP37.57 thousand, PHP64.76 thousand, PHP27.50 thousand and 

PHP27.50 thousand, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Trade and Other Payables dropped by 9% YoY at PHP6.18 billion from PHP6.81 billion 

beginning balance.  The decrease is mainly attributed to settlements of trade payables.  Coal, power, 

SLPGC, SCI, SEU, SCIPDI, SBPGC and SRPGC accounted for PHP4.29 billion, PHP1.66 billion, 

PHP234.87 million, PHP44 million, PHP37.57 million, PHP64.76 million, PHP27.5 million and PHP27.5 

million, respectively.  

 

Short-term loans increased by 842% YoY at PHP1.66 billion from PHP175.65 million beginning balance 

due to availment by the coal segment of short-term working capital loans during the period. 

 

Consolidated Current Portion of Long-Term Debt dropped by 58% YoY at PHP2.15 billion from PHP5.18 

billion due to debt service of maturing loan amortization and refinancing of coal segment's USD loans to 

take advantage of low interest rates.  Coal and power segments accounted for PHP631.52 million and 

PHP1.52 billion, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Total Non-Current Liabilities increased by 104% YoY at PHP14.61 billion from PHP7.15 

billion due to increase in long-term debt net of current portion.  Coal, power, and SLPGC accounted for 

PHP4.16 billion, PHP3.82 billion and PHP5.68 billion, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Long-Term Debt increased by 95% YoY at PHP13.68 billion from PHP7.00 billion.  This is 

primarily due to the drawdown of SLPGC from its project financing facility amounting to PHP6.99 billion, 

and loan availments of medium-term loans by the coal segment to fund for additional mining equipment, as 

well as refinancing of maturing loans.   Coal, power, and SLPGC accounted for PHP4.16billion, PHP3.82 

billion and PHP5.68 billion, respectively. 

 

Provision for Decommissioning and Site Rehabilitation increased by 215% YoY at PHP196.50 million 

from PHP62.45 million.  This accounted for coal and power provisions of PHP185.89 million and 

PHP10.62 million, respectively.  The increase is mainly due to the coal segment’s increase in mine 

rehabilitation contingency. 

 

Pension Liabilities decreased by 13% YoY at PHP31.65 million from PHP36.55 million.  Coal and power 

recorded Pension Liabilities of PHP22.10 million and PHP9.55 million, respectively.  Other non-current 

liabilities increased by 1148% YoY at PHP723.35 million from PHP57.94 million.   The amount accounted 

for the payable of SLPGC retention payable on long-term contract payments to contractor for the building 

of the power plants. 

 

After accounting for income generation of PHP7.53 billion and payment of cash dividends of PHP4.28 

billion during the period, consolidated Stockholders’ Equity increased by 19% YoY at PHP20.13 billion 

from PHP16.87 billion in 2012. 

 

Additional loan availments increased Debt-to-Equity ratio by 7% YoY at 1.22:1 from 1.15:1 last year. 
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IV. PERFORMANCE INDICATORS: 

1. Earnings per Share – The continued growth in the Company's profitability is reflected in its 

increasing EPS.  While coal showed strong performance in 2013, power was outstanding, with the 

reliable operations of both power plants after they have been rehabilitated.  Moreover, high spot 

prices in November and December augmented the power segment's profitability. 

2. Debt-to-Equity Ratio – Low DE ratio gives the Company more room to take on more debts to 

finance its expansion activities.  Given the favorable borrowing climate, debt remains to be the 

cheapest funding source.  

3. Business Expansion – The Company enjoys the unique advantage of operating coal-fired power 

plants using its own coal for fuel. It's integrated business provides more opportunities for 

synergistic growth, especially with the current investment climate where funding is cheap and 

power supply is tight. 

4. Expanded Market – Higher capacity and availability of the rehabilitated power units increased 

requirement for Semirara coal.  Moreover, new coal-fired power plants designed to use the grade 

of Semirara coal, including the expansion projects of the Company, are expected to come online.     

Meanwhile, the power supply contract with Meralco creates a reliable and stable market for the 

power segment being a base load plant.  Moreover, the open access regime for electricity began 

commercial operation in June.  This will provide the power segment alternative distribution 

outlets, such as the Retail Electricity Suppliers (RES) or large power consumers.  

5. Improved coal quality – Quality enhancing measures are continuously implemented in the mining 

operations to improve customer satisfaction and maximize returns.  On the other hand, low grade 

and washable coal are strategically used to feed power Unit 2.  

 

V. OTHER INFORMATION: 

1. There were no known trends, events or uncertainties that have material impact on liquidity.  

2. The Corporation provides interim corporate suretyship in favor of the lenders of SCPC for its 

PHP9.6 billion 7-year loan availed on 26 May 2010.  The security may however be suspended 

within the term of the loan when the conditions set forth in the loan contract are met.  SCPC 

started to amortize the loan in 2011; as at end of the year outstanding balance decreased to 

PHP8.75 billion.  

3. There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other 

relationships of the Corporation with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the 

reporting period.  

4. The Corporation has issued purchase orders to suppliers for mining equipment amounting to P180 

million for delivery Q1 2012.   Additional mining equipment worth USD7.65 million will be 

purchased in 2012 with various delivery dates falling on the second half 2012.  Moreover a 1 x 15 

MW CFB Power Plant will be constructed in Semirara Island for its mine operation, a replacement 

of the old unit with estimated cost of P1.2 billion.  The equipment purchases will be financed with 

medium-term loans that match the life of the assets while the power plant will be financed via long 

term loan, all to be sourced from local banks.   

5. For 2012, we expect an increase in the demand for Semirara Coal in the domestic market with the 

commissioning of new power plants and small boilers that can utilize 100% Semirara coal. This 

trend is expected to continue in the next two years as a result of the competitiveness of Semirara 

Coal over imported coal. 

6. There are no significant elements of income of loss from continuing operations.  

7. There were no subsequent events that came to our knowledge, which are material enough to 

warrant an adjustment in the consolidated financial statements.  

8. The Group’s operation is not cyclical or seasonal in nature.  Mining activities is continuous 

throughout the year as coal production output from period to period can be adjusted through 

efficient mine planning on both short-term and long-term, mitigating negative impact of the rainy 

season to mine operations.  The power generation business is also operational throughout the year 

as maintenance shutdown is just part of normal operation of the plant and programmed ahead of 

time.  

 
Full years 2011-2012 

 

I.   PRODUCTION AND OPERATIONS  
 

COAL 

Total materials moved in 2012 decreased by 9% at 77,072,255 from 85,060,883 bank cubic meters (bcm) last year due to longer 
hauling cycle and lower operating days.  During the year, mining operations were concentrated at the lowest level of the pit, thus 

resulting to longer hauling cycle.  Meanwhile,  total rainfall this year of 2,771 mm is 2% lower than last year.   
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The advance stripping activities in the previous periods benefit the current period’s mining operations as activities in 2012 were more 

focused on coal production rather than overburden stripping.  As a result, strip ratio dropped by 15% at 8.66:1 from 10.13:1 last year.  

This explains the 5% increase in run-of-mine (ROM) coal production at 8,235,875 metric tons (MTs) from 7,840,467 MTs last year, 

despite the decrease in material movement.  Coal recovery improved with the sale of unwashed coal to subsidiary Sem-Calaca Power 
Generation Corporation (power segment) for the use of its Unit 2.  Hence, net total product coal increased by 8% at 7,656,849 MTs 

from 7,118,460 MTs last year. 

 
Ending inventory increased by 39% at 1,382,607 MTs from beginning inventory of 991,887 MTs also as a result of higher coal 

recovery. 

 
The table below shows the quarterly comparative production data for 2012 and 2011. 

 

Q1 '12 Q2 '12 Q3 '12 Q4'12 YTD '12 Q1 '11 Q2'11 Q3'11 Q4'11 YTD '11
% Inc 

(Dec)

   Total Materials (bcm)   22,303   19,273   15,666   19,830   77,072   26,850   22,294   16,120   19,797   85,061 -9%

   ROM Coal (MT)     1,805     2,220     1,739     2,472     8,236     1,822     2,296     1,837     1,887     7,840 5%

   Strip Ratio  11.64:1  7.97:1  8.30:1  7.38:1  8.66:1  14.03:1  9.00:1  8.06:1 9.78:1  10.13:1 -15%

   Net TPC (MT)     1,651     2,089     1,579     2,337     7,657     1,642     2,149     1,646     1,682     7,118 8%

COAL WASHING

   Washable Coal (MTs)        344        334        358        278     1,314        408        313        434        470     1,625 -19%

   Washed Coal (MTs)        206        200        215        167        788        245        188        261        282        975 -19%

   % recovery 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60%

Beg. Inventory (MTs)        992        950        963     1,276        992        491        469          74        237        491 102%

End Inventory (MTs)        950        963     1,276     1,383     1,383        469          74        237        992        992 39%

COMPARATIVE PRODUCTION DATA

(in '000, except Strip Ratio)

 
 

POWER 

 

UNIT 1 

When Calaca Power Plant assets were acquired in December 2009, Unit 1 can only generate 160 MW or 53% of its rated capacity 

using pure Semirara Coal. The rehabilitation of the unit was centered on improving the loading capacity to at least 220 MW or 73% of 

its rated capacity. 
 

The rehabilitation of the plant started in August 2011 and completed in July 2012.  It took more than a year of planning to cover all 

major repair works. The rehab project suffered delays in the commissioning stage to ensure the safe and reliable operation of the plant. 
The original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), Foster Wheeler for the boiler and Toshiba for the Turbine/Generator, supervised the 

repair to commissioning of the Unit. Although delayed, the unit can now load 235 MW or 77% of its rated capacity, an improvement 

of 24% or 75 MW on pure Semirara Coal. 
 

Generation capacity is low at 20% in the five months of running against 27% last year but the average load is significantly higher at 

197 MW against 155 MW. In general, the unit is now better in terms of generation capacity and efficiency. 
 

Unit availability was only 2,697 hours or 31% compared to 54% last year since Unit 1 was down for about 7 months during the current 

period due to the rehabilitation works.  Total energy generated was 531 Gwh or 27% down compared to last year. 
 

UNIT 2 

Unit 2 is on its second year of operation after its rehabilitation in the last quarter of 2010.  
 

The unit performed better this year in all aspects of operation compared to last year.  Gross generation has increased by 71% or 1,932 

Gwh. Unit availability improved from 60% to 88% and force outage was limited to only 12% from 36% last year.  Running hours in 
2012 is remarkably higher at 7,761 hours than 2011  48% increase.  

 

Loading capacity is limited to 260 MW due to some leaks on two of its high pressure heaters 7 & 8.  The average load capacity during 
the current period is at 249 MW or 20% more than last year. 

 

The table below shows the quarterly comparative plant performance for 2012 and 2011. 
 

 
 

Q1 '12 Q2 '12 Q3 '12 Q4 '12 YTD '12 Q1 '11 Q2'11 Q3'11 Q4'11 YTD '11
% Inc 

(Dec)

Gross Generation, Gwh

   Unit 1         -           -       128     403       531      243    245    239        -         727 -27%

   Unit 2     473     478     508     473    1,932      189    395    181    367    1,132 71%

   Total Plant     473     478     636     876    2,463      432    641    420    367    1,860 32%

          -             -   

% Availability

   Unit 1 0% 0% 36% 87% 31% 70% 74% 70% 0% 54% -43%

   Unit 2 88% 88% 92% 86% 88% 49% 83% 37% 71% 60% 48%

   Total Plant 44% 44% 64% 86% 60% 59% 78% 54% 35% 57% 5%

Capacity Factor

   Unit 1 0% 0% 19% 61% 20% 0% 0% 36% 0% 28% -27%

   Unit 2 72% 72% 77% 72% 73% 29% 60% 27% 56% 43% 70%

   Total Plant 18% 18% 24% 33% 47% 17% 24% 16% 14% 35% 32%

COMPARATIVE PLANT PERFORMANCE DATA

YTD'12 vs YTD'11
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II.  MARKET 

 

COAL 

Total coal sold in 2012 increased by 10% at 7.18 million MTs compared to 6.52 million MTs in 2011.  Q1 2012 sales of 1.67 million 

MTs was 2% higher than 1.64 million MTs sold in Q1 2011, however, Q2 2012 sales volume of 2.06 million MTs was 18% lower as 
against 2.52 million MTs in Q2 2011, while Q3 sales continued to drop by 15% at 1.25 million MTs this year from 1.46 million MTs 

in 2011.  Q4 sales recovered with an increase of 145% at 2.21 million MTs from 902 thousand MTs last year. 

 
The table below shows the quarterly comparative coal sales volume data for 2012 and 2011. 

 

Q1 '12 Q2 '12 Q3 '12 Q4 '12 YTD '12 % Q1 '11 Q2 '11 Q3 '11 Q4 '11 YTD '11 %
% Inc 

(Dec)

Power Plants

   Calaca 205   285    545    456    1,492 21% 412   320    420    256    1,408 22% 6%

Other PPs 325   382    203    126    1,037 14% 384   325    569    270    1,547 24% -33%

TOTAL PPs 531   667    748    582    2,528 63% 795   645    989    525    2,955 72% -14%

Other Industries

Cement 272   338    224    220    1,053 15% 187   145    146    182    660    10% 59%

Others 98     105    128    98      430    6% 197   60      107    111    475    7% -9%

Total Others 370   443    352    318    1,482 21% 384   205    254    292    1,135 17% 31%

TOTAL LOCAL     901   1,110   1,100      900  4,011 56%  1,180     850  1,242     818  4,090 63% -2%

EXPORT 771   946    146    1,310 3,173 44% 462   1,665 218    85      2,430 37% 31%

GRAND TOTAL  1,672   2,056   1,245   2,211  7,184 100%  1,641  2,516  1,460     902  6,519 100% 10%

COMPARATIVE SALES VOLUME DATA

(in '000 MTs)

CUSTOMER

 

Sale to power plants decreased by 14% this year at 2.53 million MTs from 2.96 million MTs last year.  Although Q1 and Q2 off-take 

of the power segment were lower this year as compared to last year as rehabilitation of Unit 1 was completed only in Q3, coal off-take 
increased in the second half.  As a result, the power segment’s total coal purchases increased by 6% at 1.49 million MTs this year from 

1.41 million MTs last year.  Meanwhile deliveries to other power plants dropped in the second half, resulting to a 33% drop YoY at 

1.04 million MTs this year from 1.55 million MTs in 2011.  
 

On the other hand, with  three new customers this year, sales to cement plants increased by 59% at 1.05 million MTs from 660 

thousand MTs last year. 
 

The 9% drop in sales to other local customers was mainly caused by weaker purchases by some small traders in Q1 and Q4 this year.  

Deliveries to other industrial plants totaled to 430 thousand MTs from 475 thousand MTs in 2011.   
 

The increase in sales to cement plants helped offset the decrease in deliveries to power plants and other industrial customers, thus 

softening the drop in total local sales at 2% to 4.01 million MTs this year from 4.09 million MTs in 2011. 
 

On the other hand, export sales rebounded in Q4, bringing total exports to 3.17 million MTs this year or a 31% growth from last year's 

2.43 million MTs.   
 

All supply contracts with the Corporation are already priced at market.  As a result, the drop in global coal prices brought down 

composite average FOB price per MT this year to PHP2,453, a 20% decrease from last year's PHP3,078.   

 

POWER 

The power segment's 2012 recorded sales for bilateral contracts increased to 2,007 GWH from 1,553GWh in 2011 or 29% 
improvement.  This mainly came from the contract with MERALCO which was effective since 26 December 2011.  

 

MERALCO is still the single biggest customer of the power segment in 2012, accounting for 80% share of the total energy sales to 
bilateral contracts.  BATELEC I and Trans-Asia accounted for 12% and 6% market share, respectively, the balance is for other small 

contracts. 

 
Meanwhile, spot market sales dropped by 26% from 472 GWh in 2011 to 348 GWh in 2012.  The decrease in spot sales was due to the 

increase in contracted power which effectively reduced the excess capacity for sale in the spot market. 

 
Total energy sold in 2012 posted at 2,355 GWh 85% directly to the customers through bilateral contracts, and 15% to the spot market. 

Total energy sales increased by 16% from 2,025 GWh recorded in 2011. 

 
Of the total energy sold, 99% was sourced from the generation of the power plants, while 1% was purchased from the spot market.  

 

Spot market prices in 2012 were more volatile compared to 2011.  This is due to the abrupt forced outages and scheduled maintenance 
of major power plants which decreased the supply in the months of May to July 2012.  Also, It was observed that the demand 

increased by an average of 4% in 2012.  These two factors caused the increase of spot prices in the market. 

 
In the last quarter of 2012, spot prices escalated due to the planned outages of Ilijan Block A (600 MW) and Sta. Rita Mod 30 (256 

MW) amidst the increased demand as business activities stepped up until Christmas Eve. This situation in the market provided Unit 1 
an opportunity to generate more Revenues as power generated during the plant's testing were sold to the spot market. 

 

The table below shows the quarterly comparative sales volume data and composite average price for 2012 and 2011. 
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III.  FINANCE    
 

A.  Sales and Profitability  
Consolidated Revenues, net of eliminating entries, dropped by 6% YoY at PHP24.15 billion from PHP24.81 billion last year.  
Although coal sales volume increased, lower composite average price/MT pulled down coal Revenues before elimination to PHP17.63 

billion this year from PHP20.06 billion last year.  Net of eliminations, Coal Revenues dropped by 11% YoY at PHP14.45 billion from 

PHP16.20 billion last year.  On the other hand, higher energy generation offset the decrease in average price per kwhr caused by the 
decrease in international coal price index.  As a result, energy sales slightly improved by 1% at PHP9.70 billion from PHP9.61 billion 

last year. 

 
Consolidated Cost of Sales decreased by 12% at PHP14.64 billion from PHP16.66 billion last year.  Before elimination, Cost of Coal 

Sold dropped by 12% at PHP12.33 billion from PHP14.01 billion last year due to lower cost/MT sold.  Net of elimination, Cost of 

Coal Sold likewise dropped by 12% YoY at PHP9.82 billion from PHP11.10 billion.  Cost of Coal Sold per MT dropped by 24% 
compared to last year due mainly to higher units of production and tightening control on some mine overhead costs.  This partially 

offsets the decline in Revenues due to lower average coal prices. 

 
In the same note, power Cost of Energy Sales before elimination reduced by 14% at PHP5.55 billion from PHP6.40 billion last year.  

Minimal spot purchases for replacement power and lower coal fuel average cost this year accounted for the decrease in cost. 

 
The resulting consolidated Gross Profit increased by 4% at PHP9.51 billion, with the coal power segments each contributing PHP4.63 

and PHP4.88 billion, respectively.  Last year's consolidated Gross Profit stood at PHP9.15 billion last year, PHP5.10 billion from coal 

and PHP3.05 billion from power.  Consolidated Gross profit margin improved to 39% from 35% last year. 
 

Consolidated Operating Expenses increased by 19% at PHP3.39 billion from PHP2.86 billion last year.  Net of eliminating entries, the 

coal segment’s Operating Expenses increased by 9% at PHP2.0 billion from last year’s PHP1.84 billion as lower Cost of Sales 
increased Government Share by 5% at PHP1.56 billion from PHP1.48 billion last year.  The power segment's Operating Expenses after 

elimination also went up by 35% at PHP1.38 billion from PHP1.02 billion last year due to write-down of net book value of replaced 
major components and parts relative to the rehabilitation of Unit 1 amounting to PHP341 million.  The pre-operating Southwest Luzon 

Power Generation Corp. (SLPGC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation incorporated to expand its power capacity with the 

construction of 2 x 150 MW power plants, incurred PHP21.55 million pre-operating expenses, representing taxes, licenses and fees 
incurred during the year.  Another subsidiary, Sem-Cal Industrial Park Developers, Inc. (SIPDI) and Semirara Claystone Inc. also 

incurred Pre-operating Expenses of PHP37 thousand and PHP65 thousand during the period, respectively. 

 
Consolidated Forex Gains posted a remarkable PHP391 million as against losses of PHP38.32 million last year.  The PHP continued to 

strengthen against the USD during the year.  Since most of its loans are USD-denominated, bulk of this year's Forex Gains is attributed 

to the coal segment which recognized PHP387.83 million versus last year's Loss of PHP26.01 million.  Meanwhile, with minimal 
Forex exposure, the power segment’s Forex Gains registered at PHP3.17 million as against Losses of PHP12.31 million last year. 

 

Lower cash and lower placement interest rates resulted to the decrease in consolidated Finance Income by 39% at PHP82.15 million 
from PHP134.88 million last year.  The coal segment’s investible funds reduced after its additional equity infusion of PHP2.5 billion 

to SLPGC, thus its Finance Income decreased by 83% at PHP13.12 million from PHP79.45 million last year.  On the other hand, the 

power segment’s Finance Income increased by 24% at PHP68.95 million from PHP55.43 million due to higher short-term placement 
income from SLPGC in the first half of 2012 with its higher cash level, coming from the proceeds of the initial drawdown from the 

project loan facility and equity infusion by the parent, parked in short-term placements.  

 
Consolidated Finance Costs slightly increased by 4% at PHP501.28 million from PHP483.29 million last year.  The coal segment’s 

interest-bearing loans increased by 6% at PHP4.91 billion from PHP4.62 billion last year.  Although interest rates are lower this year, 

Finance Costs increased by 17% at PHP122.61 million from PHP104.93 million last year as it only started paying off short-term debts 
toward the end of the year.  Meanwhile,  the power segment's total ending interest-bearing loans balance dropped to PHP7.35 billion 

from PHP8.84 billion last year.  Of this amount, P550 million reflects the new availment by SLPGC.  With the availment of short-term 

working capital loans during the year, the power segment's Finance Costs slightly increased at PHP378.67 million from PHP378.36 
million last year. 

 

Consolidated Other Income increased by 219% at PHP31-08.40 million from PHP99.91 million generated by the coal segment last 
year from gain on sale of retired assets.  After eliminating the PHP 1.5 billion Dividend Income from the power segment, the coal 

segment’s Other Income this year, increased by 78% at PHP187.63 million from PHP99.91 million last year, included gain on sale of 

retired assets, sale of electricity and insurance claims.  Meanwhile, the power segment’s Other Income of PHP131.26 million this year 
is mainly composed of sale of fly ash. 

 

The resulting consolidated Income Before Tax stood at PHP6.40 billion, with the coal and power segments contributing PHP3.10 
billion and PHP3.30 billion, respectively; meanwhile SLPGC registered a loss of 3.56 million.  This year’s consolidated Income 

Before Tax posted a 6% growth over last year’s PHP6.01 billion. 

 
Both operating business units enjoy Income Tax Holidays (ITH) as Board of Investments (BOI)-registered companies.  Moreover, on 

20 September 2012, the coal segment received the approval of its BOI registration for Bobog Mine, another mine site to be developed 

next to the current active Panian mine.  The ITH benefit will start upon commercial operation of the new mine. SLPGC’s application 
for BOI registration was also approved during the year.  With these tax holidays, consolidated Provision for Income Tax remained 

Q1'12 Q2'12 Q3'12 Q4'12 YTD'12 Q1'11 Q2'11 Q3'11 Q4'11 YTD'11 % Inc (Dec)

Bilateral Contracts 489    427    518    573      2,007 362   457   398   336      1,553 29%

Spot Sales 0.59   1        68      278      347     94     215   75     88        472     -26%

GRAND TOTAL     489     428     586       851   2,354 456   671   474         425   2,025 16%

Composit Ave Price    4.14    4.41    3.79      4.19     4.12 4.58  4.79  4.51       5.12     4.75 -13%

COMPARATIVE SALES VOLUME DATA

(in GWh)

CUSTOMER
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minimal at PHP39.45 million this year.  In 2011, consolidated Benefit from Income Tax posted at PHP22.17 million.  The coal and 

power segments’ tax provision this year stood at PHP1.3 million and PHP28.0 million, respectively. 

 

The resulting consolidated Net Income After Tax posted a 5% growth at PHP6.36 billion from PHP6.031 billion last year.  Coal and 

power segments respectively generated PHP3.10 billion and PHP3.28 billion this year, while SLPGC recorded a net loss of PHP8.0  
million.  Earnings per Share (EPS) correspondingly increased by 5% at PHP17.85 from PHP16.93 last year. 

 

B. Financial Condition, Solvency and Liquidity 

Consolidated cash provided by operating activities this year amounted to PHP.6.72 billion.  Consolidated loan availments totaled to 

PHP4.47 billion.  Meanwhile, sale of assets during the year generated PHP127.49 million, while increase in Other Noncurrent 

Liabilities of PHP57.94 million resulted to a positive impact to the cash flow.  With Beginning Cash of PHP5.01 billion, total 
consolidated Cash available for the period stood at PHP16.38 billion. 

 

Of the available cash, PHP5.15 billion was used to fund major CAPEX;  PHP3.8 billion for the power plant expansion under 
construction in progress, PHP1.15 billion for mining equipment, and PHP237.54 million for the existing power plants. 

 

The Corporation also paid cash dividends of PHP12 per share or a total of PHP4.27 billion 
Meanwhile, PHP5.30 billion was spent for debt repayments, PHP2.03 billion for the maturing obligations of power, and PHP3.27 for 

the coal segment. 

 

Other investing activities during the period also utilized cash, namely, additions to investments and advances amounting to PHP 17.25 

million which included investment in sinking fund.  

With this year's intensive expenditures, consolidated Ending Cash closed at PHP534.39 billion, a significant 89% drop from last year's 
PHP5.01 billion due to investments made in the power segment and long-term debt service.  

 

The consolidated current ratio as of end of the current period went down at 0.97x  versus 1.25x in 2011 due to reclassification of long-
term debt to current portion and short-term refinancing of long-term debt principally from the coal segment, capitalizing the lower 

LIBOR rate and spreads for USD short-term borrowings coupled with stronger Philippine peso. 

 

C.  Financial Condition 

Consolidated Total Assets stood at PHP36.19 billion, reflecting a 2% increase from beginning balance of PHP35.63 billion due to 
acquisition of new mining equipment for refleeting of retired units and rehabilitation of Power Unit 1.  After eliminations, the coal and 

power segments’ Total Assets closed at PHP11.37 billion and PHP20.83 billion, respectively.  SLPGC, SCI and SIPDI recorded Total 

Assets of PHP3.97 billion, PHP2.5 million and PHP2.6 million, respectively.   
 

Consolidated Current Assets dropped by 17% to PHP11.71 billion from PHP14.12 billion as at end of 2011.  Coal, power, SLPGC, 

SCI and SIPDI accounted for PHP7.88 billion, PHP3.76 billion, PHP64.19 million, PHP2.5 million and PHP2.57 million, respectively.   
 

Consolidated Cash and Cash Equivalents' 89% decrease to PHP534.39 million from PHP5.01 billion beginning balance mainly 

accounted for the decrease in consolidated Current Assets.  The substantial decrease in Cash is attributable to payment of dividends 
and payment of Trade and Other Payables, particularly the down payment for the 2 x 150MW power plant expansion. 

 

On the other hand, Net Receivables increased by 11% at PHP3.58 billion from PHP3.22 billion last year mainly from increased 
receivables of electricity sales and coal export sales towards the end of the year.  The coal and power segments Receivables of 

PHP1.28 billion and PHP2.3 billion, respectively, are mainly trade related. 

 
Consolidated Net Inventories likewise increased by 23% at PHP5.66 billion from PHP4.59 billion as at the end of 2011.  The coal 

segment’s ending Inventory of PHP4.54 billion is mainly comprised of cost of ending coal inventory and materials and supplies, while 

the power segment’s Inventory of PHP1.16 billion is mainly comprised of coal inventory and spareparts inventory for corrective, 
preventive and predictive maintenance program. 

 

Consolidated Other Current Assets increased by 48% at PHP1.94 billion from PHP1.31 billion in 2011.   The coal segment’s Other 
Current Assets of PHP1.64 billion is mainly comprised of creditable withholding taxes, advances to suppliers, and pre-paid insurance.  

The power segment’s Other Current Assets of PHP262 million mainly accounted for advances to suppliers and pre-paid insurance. 

 

Consolidated Non-Current Assets grew by 14% at PHP24.47 billion from PHP21.50 billion as at end of 2011.  Coal, power, and 

SLPGC accounted for PHP3.50 billion, PHP17.07 billion, and PHP3.9 billion, respectively. 

 
The increase in consolidated non-current assets is largely attributed to the 10% increase in consolidated net PPE of PHP22.72 billion 

from PHP20.74 billion in 2011.  Down payments were made to suppliers for the expansion of power capacity under SLPGC, while the 

coal segment also purchased replacement mining equipment for its retired assets.  Coal, power, and SLPGC accounted for net PPE of 
PHP3.39 billion and PHP16.46 billion, and PHP2.88 billion, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Investments  posted a minimal increase of 4% at PHP508.04 million from PHP490.79 million beginning balance. This 
accounts for the sinking fund maintained by the power segment.  

 

Consolidated Deferred Tax Assets of PHP1.54 million accounted for the power segment's provision for decommissioning and site 
rehabilitation of PHP1.52 million and PHP19.36 thousand NOLCO of Semirara Claystone, Inc., another subsidary of the Corporation.  

In 2011, consolidated Deferred Tax Assets closed at PHP17.41 million. 

 
Consolidated Other Non-Current Assets increased by 382% to PHP1.24 billion from PHP257.38 million in 2011.  This is mainly 

comprised of advances to contractor, input VAT withheld and pre-paid rent.  Coal, power, and SLPGC accounted for Other Non-

Current Asset of PHP115 million and PHP94 million, and PHP1.03 billion, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Total Liabilities decreased by 7% at PHP19.29 billion from PHP20.82 billion last year.  Coal, power, SLPGC, SCI and 

SIPDI accounted for PHP9.78 billion, PHP8.31 billion, PHP675 million, PHP44 thousand and PHP67 thousand, respectively. 
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The drop in Total Liabilities is primarily due to the reduction in Consolidated Total Long-term Liabilities which decreased by 26% at 

PHP7.12 bilion from PHP9.52 billion in 2011.  Coal, power, SLPGC accounted for PHP9.8 billion, PHP9.6 billion, PHP675 million, 

respectively. 

 

After settlement of the balance of the coal segment’s government share for prior year of P905.0 million and payment of other trade 
accounts for both coal and power segments, consolidated Trade and Other Payables decreased by 7% at PHP6.81  billion from 

PHP7.30 billion beginning balance.  Coal, power, SLPGC and SIPDI respectively accounted for PHP4.82 billion, PHP1.93 billion, 

PHP69.98 million, PHP65 thousand and PHP87 thousand  of Trade and Other Payables. 
 

Consolidated Current Portion of Long-Term Debt likewise increased by 73% at PHP5.18 billion from PHP2.99 billion as at end of 

2011 since majority of the loans availed for CAPEX will mature next year, which recorded a closing balance of PHP3.37 billion and 
PHP1.51 billion, respectively.     

 

On the other hand, consolidated Total Non-Current Liabilities decreased by 25% at PHP7.12 billion, from PHP9.52 billion in 2011.  
Coal, power, and SLPGC accounted for PHP1.16 billion, PHP5.35 billion and PHP605 million, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Long-Term Debt decreased by 12% at PHP7.0 billion from PHP9.47 billion beginning balance, primarily due to 
reclassification to short-term of maturing CAPEX loans of the coal segment and power segment’s debt servicing. This caused the 

decrease in Total Non-Current Liabilities.  Coal, power, and SLPGC accounted for PHP1.12 billion, PHP5.34 billion and PHP547 

million, respectively. 

 

Provision for Decommissioning and Site Rehabilitation increased by 31% at PHP62.45 million from PHP47.58 million due to an 

additional provision made by the coal segment after its contract area was expanded to include portions of Caluya and Sibay islands. 
 

During the year, the Corporation recognized consolidated Pension Liabilty of PHP5.85 million.  After dividend payment of PHP4.28 

billion and accounting of income generation of PHP6.36 billion, consolidated Stockholders’ Equity increased by 14% at PHP16.89 
billion from PHP14.81 billion as at end of 2011. 

 
Debt-to-Equity ratio improved by 18% at 1.14:1 from 1.41:1 as at the start of the year. 

  

VI. PERFORMANCE INDICATORS: 

1. Earnings per Share – Despite the drop in global coal prices, the Corporation was able to recognize an increase in profits 

this year, translating to an improved EPS.  Cost management in the coal segment and success in rehabilitating both units of 

the power segment are factors that paved the way for the Corporation's continued remarkable performance during the year. 
2. Debt-to-Equity Ratio – The Corporation's healthy balance sheet allowed it to pay off debts.  Hence despite incurring an 

additional PHP 550 million loan for the expansion of the power capacity, DE improved as at the end of the year.  The 

Corporation’s strong financial condition enables it to enjoy the best commercial terms for its financing requirements. 
3. Business Expansion –  Taking an extra step in its forward integration to the power business, the Corporation started with 

its expansion plans to put up another 2 x 150 MW power plants during the year.  This will further maximize the value of its 

coal reserves as these plants are designed to use unwashed coal, thus improving coal recovery. 
4. Expanded Market – The successful breakthrough in the export market in 2007 paved way for the increased acceptance of 

Semirara coal amongst local users.  The thrust of the Corporation now is to further develop its local market, and slowly 

displace export sales with domestic deliveries as the latter give better margins. 
Meanwhile, the power segment limitted its exposure to the volatility of the spot market by signing bilateral contracts, both 

firm and non-firm.  As base load plants, it is more ideal to have a stable market for the generated electricity. 

5. Improved coal quality – The consistent implemention of measures to improve or enhance coal quality resulted to 
increased acceptance both in the export and domestic markets.  Meanwhile, to improve coal recovery and cost efficiency, 

the power plants started to burn unwashed coal during the year.  This also provides additional income to the power segment 

as sale of fly ash dramatically increased. 

 

VII. OTHER INFORMATION 

1. There were no known trends, events or uncertainties that have material impact on liquidity.  
2. The Corporation provides interim corporate suretyship in favor of the lenders of SCPC for its PHP9.6 billion 7-year loan 

availed on 26 May 2010.  The security may however be suspended within the term of the loan when the conditions set forth 

in the loan contract are met.  SCPC started to amortize the loan in 2011; as at end of the year outstanding balance decreased 

to PHP8.75 billion.  

3. There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other relationships of the Corporation 

with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period.  
4. The Corporation has issued purchase orders to suppliers for mining equipment amounting to P180 million for delivery Q1 

2012.   Additional mining equipment worth USD7.65 million will be purchased in 2012 with various delivery dates falling 

on the second half 2012.  Moreover a 1 x 15 MW CFB Power Plant will be constructed  in Semirara Island for its mine 
operation, a replacement of  the  old unit with estimated cost of P1.2 billion.  The equipment purchases will be financed 

with medium-term loans that match the life of the assets while the power plant will be financed via long term loan, all to be 

sourced from  local banks.   
5. For 2012, we expect an increase in the demand for Semirara Coal in the domestic market with the commissioning of new 

power plants and small boilers that can utilize 100% Semirara coal. This trend is expected to continue in the next two years 

as a result of the competitiveness of Semirara Coal over imported coal. 
6. There are no significant elements of income of loss from continuing operations.  

7. There were no subsequent events that came to our knowledge, which are material enough to warrant an adjustment in the 

consolidated financial statements.  
8. The Group’s operation is not cyclical or seasonal in nature.  Mining activities is continuous throughout the year as coal 

production output from period to period can be adjusted through efficient mine planning on both short-term and long-term, 

mitigating negative impact of the rainy season to mine operations.  The power generation business is also operational 

throughout the year as maintenance shutdown is just part of normal operation of the plant and programmed ahead of time.  
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Full Years 2010-2011 

 

I.   PRODUCTION AND OPERATIONS  
 

COAL 

The acquisition and operation of the 2 x 300 MW power plants in Calaca, Batangas gave market security to the coal business segment 

and the Company, as a group, to hold position in the power sector.  The imbalance in the power demand and supply of energy in our 

country drove the Company to expand its power plant capacities in the next three years.  The thrust of the mine operations in 2011 was 
anchored on this business decision.   

 

There were more drilling programs implemented, particularly focusing on the eastern part of the island, which indicated positive 
results. These extensive drilling activities are being done to ensure that the expansion of power plant capacities will be accordingly 

supported by sufficient mineable coal reserves.  The data gathered from the exploration and confirmatory drilling are going to  be 

submitted to a local competent person for verification for certification by a competent person according to Philippine Mineral 
Resource Code (PMRC) standards and will ultimately be subjected to certification process in accordance with Joint Ore Reserve Code 

(JORC) standards.  

 
With almost the same equipment complement, operations achieved a new record high of total material movement of 85.06million bank 

cubic meters (bcm), registering an 8% growth from 2010 material movement of 78.68 million bcm.  At a higher strip ratio this year of 

10:13:1 from 9:73:1 in 2010, run-of-mine (ROM) coal posted a more modest growth of 4% at 7.84million metric tons (MTs) from 

7.54million MTs last year.  Despite a higher percentage of washable coal this year, net total product coal recorded a 2% increase at 

7.12 million MTs from 6.95 million MTs in 2010. 

 
The fourth (4th) loading facility was made operational towards the end of the year.  The strategic location of the new loading facility 

cuts coal transfer time.  This improved logistic support necessary for the expanded activities in the island and make coal loading rate 

faster.   
 

Despite the increased production, marketing efforts were restrained by the impact of the economic woes in Europe and US to the Asia 
Pacific Region. Exports declined due to high coal inventory in China from Europe which were diverted to Asian market and lower coal 

demand in Thailand due to flooding. Thus, local orders were given priority and export sales slowed down towards the end of the year.  

As a result, ending inventory stood at 1.0 million MTs more than double the beginning inventory of only 0.49million MTs. 
 

POWER 

UNIT 1 

In 2011 Unit 1 was limited to 157 MW average load due to thinned boiler tubes and only one Circulating Water Pump (CWP) in 

service starting 14 April 2011.  Also, the unit was under rehabilitation starting 29 August 2011, hence gross generation reduced by 

20% from 2010 level of 915 GWh at 727 GWh this year.  Capacity factor, availability, and forced outage rates during the year stood at 
28%, 54%, and 4%, respectively. The unit was running for a total of 4,704 hours during the year, and it consumed 477,272 MTs 

Semcoal. 

 
Unit 1 has been operating for 25 years and issues related to safety, reliability, efficiency, upgrade, obsolescence and environmental 

consequently arose. The rehabilitation of Unit 1 was undertaken to address these issues that caused the inefficient operations of the 

plant. It was officially shutdown for rehabilitation last August 29, 2011. 
 

UNIT 2 

In 2011 Unit 2 was running at 254MW average load due to extended commissioning and high pressure heater leak.  Gross generation 
for 2011 was 1,132 GWh with 43% capacity factor, 60% availability, and 36% forced outage rates. After the rehabilitation works, 

generation this year is 57% higher than in 2010 as operating hours improved from 4,230 hours in 2010 to 5,234 hours this year. 

 
The unit experienced 2,976 hours forced outage which is 19% higher than 2010 level due to the increase in load which exposed the 

plant’s weak points leading to de-rating and shutdowns. Fine tuning of boiler was done progressively to correct overheating.  

Meanwhile, the remaining overheated boiler tubes will be replaced by end 2012, to coincide with the scheduled preventive 
maintenance shutdown of the plant.   

 

The Distributed Control System (DCS) and the dry bottom ash system will also be installed during the aforementioned scheduled 

preventive maintenance shutdown.  Moreover, all other improvements, correction of deficiencies and modifications will be undertaken 

during this time. The full rehabilitation program of the plant is expected to be completed and by start of 2013. 

 

II. MARKET 

 

COAL 

Demand for Semirara coal, both from the local and export markets, remained strong in 2011.  However, with its new objective of 

resource maximization for its investments in the power, the Company strategically cut export sales during the year, such that sales of 

6.52million MTs was 9% lower than 2010 sales volume of 7.15million MTs. 
 

The cut in sales volume came from export deliveries which dropped by 41% at 2.43million MTs from 4.10million MTs in 2010.  

Conversely, local sales increased by 34% at 4.,09million MTs from 3.05million MTs in 2010.   
 

With increasing local demand, marketing efforts shifted back to prioritizing the domestic market to fully benefit from its competitive 

advantages over imported coal.  Thus, from a 43% : 57% market share in favor of export sales in 2010, the scale has tipped to 63%: 
37%  in 2011. 

 

Bulk of the local sales were delivered to the power plants, totaling to 3.27million MTs, increasing by 92% from power plant sales of 

1.70million MTs in 2010.  SCPC’s total deliveries increased by 47% at 1.41million MTs this year from 0.96million MTs in 2010 as 

first phase of Unit 2 rehabilitation was completed this year, thus increasing the plant’s effective capacity and utilization rate.    

Meanwhile, deliveries to other power plants tripled from 0.74million MTs in 2010 to 1.86million MTs this year.  The huge increase 
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mainly came from the increase in off-take of a customer with power plants in the Visayas with a long-term supply agreement with the 

Company.  Sales to the power sector accounted for 50% of total sales in 2011. 

 

Sales to local cement plants remained flat at 0.66million MTs in 2011 from 0.66 MTs in 2010.  This year, the Company has more 

direct sales to end-users , unlike in the previous years, wherein most of its sales to cement plants were made via  local trader  Cement 
plant’s market share inched up slightly at 10% this year from 9% in 2010. 

 

Meanwhile, sales to other industrial plants recorded a significant 77% drop from 0.68 million MTs in 2010 to 0.16million MTs this 
year.  This was caused by lower purchases by a local broker who delivers to small industrial plants.  As a result, this industry’s market 

share dropped to 2% from 10% in 2010.  

 
High global coal prices translated to a remarkable 31% increase in composite average price from PHP2,343 in 2010 to PHP3,078 this 

year.  The Company already adopted a coal pricing mechanism which is indexed to global coal prices. 

 

POWER 

SCPC’s recorded sales for bilateral contracts for 2011 increased by 14% to 1,553 GWh from its recorded sales in 2010 of 1,368 GWh.  

This is attributed to the renewal of contract  with one of its previous customers, the Batangas I Electric Cooperative, Inc. (BATELEC 
I); a new power supply contract with Trans-Asia Oil and Energy Development Corporation, which took effect in April and March 

2011, respectively; and an arrangement with the National Power Corporation (NPC) for a non-firm power supply to MERALCO on 

top of the existing firm power supply to MERALCO under the existing Contract for the Supply of Electric Energy inherited by SCPC 

from NPC. 

 

MERALCO remained to be the biggest customer of SCPC accounting for 33% share of the total energy sales for SCPC’s bilateral 
contracts.  

 

SCPC’s sales from the spot market, however, dropped by 1%, from 476 GWh in 2010 to 472 GWh in 2011.  The decrease in sales to 
spot market was mainly due to the approval of non-firm nominations of Meralco. 

 
Overall, a total energy of 2,025GWh was sold in 2011, 77% directly to the customers through bilateral contracts, and 23% to the spot 

market.  The total energy sales increased by 10% from 1,845 GWh recorded in 2010.  

 
Of the total energy sold, 85% was sourced from the generation of the power plants, while 15% was purchased from the spot market. 

SCPC secured replacement power from the spot market to meet its supply obligation to MERALCO.  

 
In December 2011, SCPC inked a new power supply contract with Meralco effective December 26, 2011 for a term of seven (7) years 

with an option to extend for another three (3) years upon mutual agreement. The initial contracted capacity is 210 MW and will be 

increased to 420MW upon commercial operation of the other unit after rehabilitation or 210MW for each unit. 
 

III. FINANCE    

 

A. Sales and Profitability  
High coal prices and increase in energy sales resulted to a 13% growth in consolidated Revenues in 2011 at PHP25.81 billion from 

PHP22.90 billion in the previous year.  Net of eliminating entries, coal and energy Revenues stood at PHP16.20 billion and PHP9.61 
billion, respectively. 

 

Consolidated Cost of Sales increased by 5% at PHP9.15 billion from PHP6.99 billion in 2010.  After eliminating entries, the coal and 
power segments accounted for Cost of Sales of PHP10.26 billion and PHP6.40 billion, respectively.  Cost of Coal Sold/MT increased 

by 21% from PHP1,770 in 2010 to PHP2,148 this year due to significant increases in rate of fuel consumption per cycle time and fuel, 

materials and spare parts prices, along with the increase in stripping ratio.  On the other hand, the power segment’s Cost of 
Sales/KWhr registered a slight 1% growth from PHP3.13 in 2010 to PHP3.16 in the current period.  

 

The increase in per unit Cost of Sales was sufficiently covered by the increase in selling prices for both the coal and power segments.  
Thus, Gross Profit Margin increased from 31% in 2010 to 35% in the current period.  As a result, consolidated Gross Profit registered 

a healthier growth of 31% from PHP6.99 billion in 2010 to PHP9.15 billion this year. 

 

Meanwhile, consolidated Operating Expenses increased by 6% from PHP2.72 billion in 2010 to PHP2.88 billion this year.  The coal 

segment’s Operating Expenses of PHP1.86 billion is mainly composed of Government Share of PHP1.48 billion.  On the other hand, 

the power segment incurred PHP999.00 million in Operating Expenses, which comprised mainly of the O&M fee of the plant.  In 
addition, the Company invested in two new companies during the year.  One is the Southwest Luzon Power Generating Corp. 

(SLPGC) which will undertake the expansion of the power capacities with the construction of 2 x 150 MW plants adjacent to the 

existing power plants of SCPC.  Pre-operating expenses of PHP20.23 million were incurred during the year.  Another Company was 
incorporated, the SEM-Cal Industrial Park Developers, Inc. SIPDI) which aims to develop areas in the Calaca property into an 

economic zone.  In 2011, it incurred Pre-operating Expenses of PHP50 thousand. 

 
Consolidated Financing Cost dropped by 28% from PHP668.44 million in 2010 to PHP483.29 million this year.  The decrease was due 

to the decline in the balance of the SCPC loan, which partly financed the acquisition of the asset, from PHP9.6 billion in 2010 to 

PHP8.6 as at the end of 2011.  Augmented by the drop in interest rates, Financing Cost of the power sector decreased by 19% from 
PHP490.63 in 2010 to PHP396.78 million this year.  Meanwhile, although total loans of the coal segment increased in 2011, due to the 

decrease in interest rates, its Financing Costs in 2011 of PHP86.51 million decreased by 56% from 2010 level of PHP177.81 million, 

mainly from dollar denominated loans.   
 

On the contrary, consolidated Finance Income rose by 134% from PHP57.67 million to PHP134.88 million.  Short-term placement 

rates improved in 2011 compared to 2010.  Moreover, all business units had healthier cash positions during the year.  The coal 

segment’s Finance Income increased by 165% at PHP79.45 million from PHP30.02 in 2010; while the power segment generated 

PHP55.43 million this year, posting a 100% increase from last year’s level of PHP27.65 million.  Meanwhile, SLPGC recognized 

Finance Income of PHP10.54 from its partially paid-up capital placed in short-term time deposit accounts. 
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Meanwhile, foreign exchange fluctuations resulted to consolidated Forex Losses of PHP38.32 million, the coal and power segments 

incurred Forex Losses of PHP26.01 million and PHP12.31 million, respectively.  In 2010, the fluctuations moved in favor of the 

Company, thus enabling it to recognize consolidated Forex Gains of PHP 199.49 million. 

 

Consolidated Other Income of PHP99.91 was generated by the coal segment mainly from sale of retired mining equipment and 
proceeds from insurance claims of PHP53.55 million and 35.12 million respectively.  This posted a 53% growth from 2010 level of 

PHP65.43 million. 

 
Consolidated Net Income Before Tax showed an impressive growth of 53% at PHP6.01 billion from PHP3.95 billion last year.  

Minimal losses from the two pre-operating companies were sufficiently covered by the healthy income generation of the coal and 

power segments, which stood at PHP4.14 billion and PHP1.87 billion, respectively, net of eliminating entries.  Meanwhile, both 
business segments have Income Tax Holidays as Board of Investments registered companies (as expanding coal producer and as power 

generator).  As a result, consolidated Tax Provision amounted to negative provision of PHP22.17 million consisting of final income 

taxes amounting to PHP22.76, net of deferred income taxes of PHP44.93 million. 
 

The resulting consolidated Net Income After Tax closed at PHP6.03 billion, the coal and power segments respectively contributed 

PHP4.17 billion and PHP1.87 billion.  Net earnings this year posted a remarkable 51% growth from consolidated Net Income After 
Tax in 2010 of PHP3.95 billion.  Earnings per Share increased by 40% from PHP12.10 last year to PHP16.93 this year, after the 

number of outstanding shares increased mid-2010 due to a stock rights offering exercise.  

 

B. Financial Condition, Solvency and Liquidity 

Strong revenues resulted to healthy cash generation for the Company.  This allowed the Company to increase its investments, 

particularly property, plant and equipment (PPE) which totaled to a consolidated amount of PHP35.63 billion.   
 

The Company was also able to afford to pay dividends, which is double of last year’s figure amounting to PHP3.56 billion.  Although 

still under rehabilitation, the power segment contributed PHP1.2 billion in dividends. 
 

Total consolidated debt repayment was also sizeable at PHP2.80 billion. 
 

Despite the considerable cash out, consolidated Cash End stood at PHP5.01 billion, posting a 31% growth over beginning balance of 

PHP3.81 billion. 
 

Consolidated Net Receivables increased slightly by 1% from beginning balance of PHP3.18 billion, closing at PHP3.22 billion.  After 

hitting its target for the year, the coal segment slowed down its coal deliveries toward the end of the year, thus decreasing its 
receivable level from PHP1.47 billion as at the start of the year to PHP1.07 billion as at year-end.  Meanwhile, the power segment’s 

Receivables slightly increased to PHP2.15 billion from PHP1.71 billion from the start of the year, while SLPGC recorded net 

Receivables of PHP384 thousand. 
 

On the other hand, consolidated Net Inventories increased by 93% from beginning balance of PHP2.35 billion to PHP4.59 billion as at 

yearend.  This is mainly due to increased coal inventory.  Coal production was at record high in 2011, but sales volume was controlled 
in congruence to the Company’s strategy of maximizing reserves for its own power plants.  The coal and power segments’ inventories 

closed at PHP3 billion and PHP1.6 billion, respectively.   

 
Meanwhile, consolidated Other Current Assets increased by 44%, closing at PHP1.31 billion, from a beginning balance of PHP912.76 

million.  This is mainly comprised of Creditable withholding taxes and Advances to suppliers and other prepayments amounting to 

PHP418.92 million and PHP891.51 respectively 
 

The resulting consolidated Total Current Assets increased by 38% from beginning balance of PHP10.26 billion, closing at PHP14.12 

billion.  The coal and power segments contributed PHP8.77 billion and PHP5.4 billion, respectively; power segment is inclusive of the 
pre-operating power Company, SLPGC, which accounts for PHP758.44 million current assets. SIPDI contributed PHP2.5 million. 

 

Consolidated Non-Current Assets recorded a more modest 6% growth at PHP21.50 billion as at yearend from beginning balance of 
PHP20.23 billion.   

 

Net of depreciation, consolidated PPE closed at PHP20.74 billion, increasing by 6% from beginning balance of PHP19.58 billion.  

More mining equipment were purchased during the year, thus increasing the coal segment’s PPE from PHP3.70 billion beginning 

balance to PHP3.72 billion ending balance; while rehabilitation works at the Calaca power plants increased the value of its PPE from 

PHP15.88 billion beginning balance to PHP17.07 billion as at yearend. 
 

Investment and Advances increased by 6% from PHP310.23 million beginning balance to PHP490.79 million as at yearend.  This 

accounts for the power segment only. 
 

Meanwhile, consolidated Other Non-Current Assets dropped by 19% from beginning balance of PHP317.59 million to PHP257.38 

million.  The coal and power segments accounted for PHP158.45 million and PHP98.93 million, respectively.  The decrease is due to 
the recovery of the related assets. 

 

The resulting consolidated Total Assets posted a 17% growth, closing at PHP35.63 billion from PHP30.50 billion in 2010.  The coal 
and power segments respectively accounted for PHP12.61 billion and PHP23 billion inclusive of the assets relating to the pre-

operating power companies - SLPGC amounting to PHP765 million. SIPDI contributed PHP2.50 million. 

 
Consolidated Total Liabilities also increased by 15% from beginning balance of PHP18.16 billion, closing at PHP20.82 billion.  The 

coal segment accounted for Total Liabilities of PHP9.38 billion, comprised of PHP6.7 billion and PHP2.68 billion Current and Non-

Current portions, respectively.  Meanwhile, the power segment’s Current and Non-current portions closed at PHP4.60 billion and 

PHP6.84 billion, respectively, resulting to Total Liabilities of PHP20.82 billion. 

 

Consolidated Current Liabilities increased by 63% from beginning balance of PHP6.93 billion to PHP11.31 billion as at year-end. This 
is primarily due to the substantial Accounts and Other Payables recognized by the coal and power segments amounting to PHP4.61 
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billion and PHP2.69 billion, respectively.  These liabilities principally arose from purchase of materials, spare parts fuel and services.  

Consolidated Short-Term Loans likewise increased by 125% from PHP449.85 million as at the start of the year to PHP1.01 billion as 

both business segments’ working capital requirements for the period increased.  Finally, Current Portion of Long Term Loans also 

posted a significant increase of 164% from beginning balance of PHP1.13 billion, closing at PHP2.99 billion.  The coal segment has 

maturing medium term loans, in relation to the financing of its CAPEX, within the next twelve months.  On the other hand, the power 
segment is already amortizing its term loan which partially financed the acquisition of the power plants. 

  

Conversely, consolidated Non-Current Liabilities decreased by 15% from beginning balance of PHP11.22 billion to PHP9.52 billion as 
at yearend.  This is primarily due to the reclassification of the maturing portion of both segments’ long-term debts to short-term. 

 

The 20% increase in consolidated Total Stockholders’ Equity, from beginning balance of PHP 12.30 billion to close at PHP14.81 
billion, came from the growth in Retained Earnings.  Despite paying out record high cash dividends during the year, both business 

segments’ robust income generation during the period resulted to a stronger equity level. 

 
Consolidated Current Ratio dropped by 16% from 1.48:1 in 2010 to 1.24:1 as at yearend.  This is primarily caused by the increase in 

Current Liabilities.  On the other hand, Debt-to-Equity ratio improved by 4% from 1.47:1 in 2010 to 1.41:1 as at yearend due to 

reclassification of maturing long-term loans to short-term. 

 

C.    Performance Indicators  
1. Earnings per Share – Despite a bigger capital base in 2011, the Company’s EPS increased by 40%, a testament to its 

strong absolute earnings during the year.  This performance indicator is crucial in determining the Company’s ability to 

declare cash dividends. 

2.   Debt-to-Equity Ratio – Aside from portraying its robust financial health, improving Debt-to-Equity Ratio boosts the 
Company capability to expand its business for capital growth.  With a healthy DE ratio, the Company’s financing options 

are likewise broadened, enabling it to enjoy low interests. 

3. Business Expansion –   Its investment in the power sector opened several doors of opportunity for the Company.  A deeper 
knowledge in the industry guided the Company’s plans of expanding its power plant capacities.  The shift in the Company’s 

strategy from expansion in the coal segment to development in the power sector provides a multiplier effect in the value of 
its finite coal reserves. 

4. Expanded Market – The increased acceptance by the local customers for Semirara coal allowed the Company to refocus 

its marketing efforts back to the domestic market, thus maximizing its intrinsic competitive advantages over imported coal.  
Meanwhile, the power segment’s supply contract with MERALCO secures its operating efficiency as base-load power 

generator. 

5. Improved coal quality – Ensuring that its coal quality improvement measures are strictly complied with is essential in 
maintaining the Company’s marketing success.  The Company now takes a step further by creating a market for its lowest 

quality coal which no existing customer could take.  Its expansion in the power sector aims to employ the latest technology 

that could burn its waste coal. 

 

IV.  OTHER INFORMATION 

1. There were no known trends, events or uncertainties that have material impact on liquidity.  
2. The Company provides interim corporate suretyship in favor of the lenders of SCPC for its PHP9.6 billion 7-year loan 

availed on 26 May 2010.  The security may however be suspended within the term of the loan when the conditions set forth 

in the loan contract are met.  SCPC started to amortize the loan in 2011; as at end of the year outstanding balance decreased 
to PHP8.75 billion.  

3. There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other relationships of the Company 

with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period.  
4. The Company has issued purchase orders to suppliers for mining equipment amounting to P180 million for delivery Q1 

2012.   Additional mining equipment worth USD7.65 million will be purchased in 2012 with various delivery dates falling 

on the second half 2012.  Moreover a 1 x 15 MW CFB Power Plant will be constructed in Semirara Island for its mine 
operation, a replacement of the old unit with estimated cost of P1.2 billion.  The equipment purchases will be financed with 

medium-term loans that match the life of the assets while the power plant will be financed via long term loan, all to be 

sourced from local banks.   
5. For 2012, we expect an increase in the demand for Semirara Coal in the domestic market with the commissioning of new 

power plants and small boilers that can utilize 100% Semirara coal. This trend is expected to continue in the next two years 

as a result of the competitiveness of Semirara Coal over imported coal. 

6. There are no significant elements of income of loss from continuing operations.  

7. There were no subsequent events that came to our knowledge, which are material enough to warrant an adjustment in the 

consolidated financial statements.  
8. The Group’s operation is not cyclical or seasonal in nature.  Mining activities is continuous throughout the year as coal 

production output from period to period can be adjusted through efficient mine planning on both short-term and long-term, 

mitigating negative impact of the rainy season to mine operations.  The power generation business is also operational 
throughout the year as maintenance shutdown is just part of normal operation of the plant and programmed ahead of time.  

 

 

B. INFORMATION ON INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS 

 

The principal accountants and external auditors of the Company and its Subsidiaries
7
 is the accounting 

firm SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV).  Pursuant to the General Requirements of SRC Rule 68, 

paragraph 3 (Qualifications and Reports of Independent Auditors), the Company and its Subsidiaries 

has engaged the services of SGV as external auditor of the Company, and Ms. Cyril Jasmin B. 

Valencia is the Partner-In-Charge starting 2012 or less than five years following the regulatory policy 

of audit partner rotation every five years.  

                                                 
7 SCPC and SLPGC were incorporated in November 2009 and August 2011, respectively. 
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On March 6, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Corporation, upon recommendation of its Audit 

Committee, approved and recommended the re-appointment of SGV, subject to the stockholders’ 

approval, as the Corporation’s Independent External Auditor for the fiscal year 2015. 

 

(1) External Audit Fees and Services  

 

(a) Audit & Audit Related Fees. - The Company and its Subsidiaries paid its external auditors 

the following fees in the past two (2) years: 

 

In Millions Pesos with VAT 

2012 4.0
8
 

2013 4.6
9
 

Total 8.6
10

 

 

(b) Tax Fees. - There are no fees billed in each of the last fiscal years for professional services 

rendered by the SGV for tax accounting, compliance, advice, planning and any other form of 

tax services. 

 

(c) All Other Fees. – There are no fees billed in each of the last two fiscal years for products and 

services provided by SGV other than services reported under item (a) above. 

 

(2) There have been no changes in or disagreement with the Company and its Subsidiaries’ accountant 

on accounting and financial disclosures. 

 

(3) The Company’s Audit Committee oversees the external audit function on behalf of the Board of 

Directors (Board).  It recommends the appointment, reappointment or replacement of external 

auditor to the Board.  It is charge with the evaluation of the audit work engagements, its scope, 

fees and terms for approval of the Board.  The Audit Committee also reviews non-audit services 

and taxation advice, if any, by the external auditor.  At the conclusion of the annual audit, it 

discusses with Management and the external auditor significant reporting issues.  Lastly, the Audit 

Committee reviews external audit findings in respect of any significant deficiencies or weaknesses 

in controls and ensure that Management responds appropriately with timely corrective actions, 

including audit adjusting entries noted or proposed but passed as immaterial or otherwise. 

 

PART IV – MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN SECURITY HOLDERS 
 

A. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE ISSUER 

 

(1) The following are the names, citizenship, educational attainment, positions, offices and 

business experiences of all incumbent Directors and Executive Officers of the Company: 

 

Directors: 

1. David M. Consunji, 92, Filipino, has been the Chairman of the Board of the Corporation since 

May 2001. He is a graduate of B.S. Civil Engineering at the University of the Philippines. He is 

currently the Chairman of D.M. Consunji, Inc., Dacon Corporation, DMCI Holdings, Inc. (listed 

company), Semirara Cement Corp., SEM-Calaca Power Corporation, Semirara Claystone Inc., 

Semirara Energy Utilities Inc., St. Raphael Power Generation Corporation, SEM-Balayan Power 

Generation Corporation, Southwest Luzon Power Generation Corporation, and SEM-Cal Industrial 

Park Developers Inc. and He is also Director of Atlantic Gulf & Pacific Co., Inc.  He was the 

former Secretary of the Department of Public Works, Transportation and Communications from 

August 23, 1971 to 1975, President of the Philippine Contractors Association, President of 

International Federation of Asian & Western Pacific Contractors’ Association, President of 

Philippine Institute of Civil Engineers, Vice-President of the Confederation of International 

Contractors’ Association. He also served as the Chairman of the Contractors Association, the 

Philippine Domestic Construction Board, the Philippine Overseas Construction Board, and the 

U.P. Engineering Research and Development Foundation, Inc. 

                                                 
8 Includes Subsidiaries audit fee of P1.9 Million. 
9 Includes Subsidiaries audit fee of P2.4 Million. 
10 Audit and audit-related fees only; no fees for other assurance and related services were paid. 
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2. Isidro A. Consunji, 65, Filipino, has been the Vice-Chairman of the Corporation since May 2001 

and currently serves as the Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the 

Nomination & Election Committee.  He is a graduate of B.S. Civil Engineering at the University 

of the Philippines.  He holds a Master’s Degree in Business Economics from the Center for 

Research & Communication, and Business Management from the Asian Institute of Management.  

He also took an Advanced Management from IESE School in Barcelona, Spain.  He is also the 

CEO of SEM-Calaca Power Corporation, Semirara Claystone Inc., Semirara Energy Utilities Inc., 

St. Raphael Power Generation Corporation, SEM-Balayan Power Generation Corporation, 

Southwest Luzon Power Generation Corporation, and SEM-Cal Industrial Park Developers Inc.  

He is also the Chairman and CEO of DMCI Mining Corporation, Chairman of ENK Plc (U.K.);  

Vice-Chairman of DMCI Masbate Power Corporation; Director of Dacon Corporation, M&S 

Company Inc., DMCI Projects Developers, Inc., Crown Equities, Inc. (listed company), Toledo 

Mining Corporation Plc (U.K.) Semirara Cement Corporation, Atlas Consolidated Mining and 

Development Corporation (listed company), Maynilad Water Services, and SEM-Calaca Res 

Corporation; and President of DMCI Holdings, Inc. (listed company). He was the former President 

of the Philippine Constructors Association and Philippine Chamber of Coal Mines, Inc. 

 

3. Victor A. Consunji, 63, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since May 2001 and 

currently serves as the Corporation’s President, Chief Operating Officer, and a member of the 

Audit Committee. He is a graduate of A.B. Political Science at the Ateneo de Davao. He is also the 

President and COO of SEM-Calaca Power Corporation, Semirara Claystone Inc., Semirara Energy 

Utilities Inc., St. Raphael Power Generation Corporation, SEM-Balayan Power Generation 

Corporation, Southwest Luzon Power Generation Corporation, and SEM-Cal Industrial Park 

Developers Inc.; Chairman, President & CEO of Semirara Training Center, Inc.; Chairman and 

CEO of DMCI Power Corporation; Chairman & President of Sirawai Plywood & Lumber Corp., 

and SEM-Calaca Res Corporation; Chairman of One Network Bank and Divine Word School of 

Semirara Island, Inc.; Director of DMCI Holdings, Inc. (listed company), D.M. Consunji, Inc., 

M&S Company, Inc., Dacon Corporation, Sodaco Agricultural Corporation, DMC Urban Property 

Developers, Inc., Ecoland Properties, Inc., DMCI Masbate Power Corporation, and DMCI Mining 

Corporation; and President of Sirawai Plywood & Lumber Corp.; and Vice-President of Dacon 

Corporation. 

 

4. Jorge A. Consunji, 62, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since May 2001 . He is a 

graduate of B.S. Industrial Management Engineering at the De La Salle University. He is also the 

Chairman of DMCI Masbate Power Corporation; and Director of DMCI Holdings, Inc. (listed 

company), Dacon Corporation, DMCI Project Developers, Inc., SEM-Calaca Power Corporation, 

Southwest Luzon Power Generation Corporation, Semirara Claystone Inc., Semirara Energy 

Utilities Inc., St. Raphael Power Generation Corporation, SEM-Balayan Power Generation 

Corporation, SEM-Cal Industrial Park Developers Inc., SEM-Calaca Res Corporation, Cotabato 

Timberland Co., Inc., M&S Company, Inc., Sodaco Agricultural Corporation, DMCI Mining 

Corporation, DMCI Power Corporation, Eco-Process & Equipment Phils. Inc., and Maynilad 

Water Services, Inc.; President & COO of D.M. Consunji, Inc., and Royal Star Aviation, Inc.; and 

Vice-President of Divine Word School of Semirara Island, Inc. He was the former Chairman of the 

Board of Contech Panel Mfg., Inc., and of Wire Rope Corp. of the Philippines. He was the former 

President of ACEL and Former First Vice-President of Phil. Constructors Association. 

 

5. Cesar A. Buenaventura, 84, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since May 2001. He 

graduated from the University of the Philippines with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Civil 

Engineering. He received his M.S. Civil Engineering as Fulbright Scholar at the Lehigh University, 

Bethlehem, Pennsylvania. In 1991, Mr. Buenaventura was made Honorary Officer of the Order of 

the British Empire (OBE) by Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II.  He is currently the Chairman of 

Maibarara Geothermal, Inc., and Vice-Chairman of Atlantic Gulf & Pacific Company of Manila 

(AG&P), DMCI Holdings, Inc. (listed company), and Montecito Properties, Inc. He is a director of 

DMCI Holdings, Inc., iPeople, Inc. (listed company), PetroEnergy Resources Corp. (listed 

company), AG&P Company of Manila, Maibarara Geothermal, Inc., Montecito Properties, Inc., 

Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corporation, Philippine American Life Insurance Company, and Manila 

International Airport Authority.  He is the founding Chairman of Pilipinas Shell Foundation, Inc., 

and founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Makati Business Club.  His former 

affiliations are:  President of the Benigno S. Aquino Foundation; Member of the Board of Trustees 

of Asian Institute of Management; Chief Executive Officer of Shell Group of Companies; Member 
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of the Monetary Board of the Central Bank of the Philippines; Member of the Board of Directors 

of the Philippine International Convention Center; Member of the Board of Regents of the 

University of the Philippines.  He was also a former director of Ayala Corporation, First Philippine 

Holdings Corporation, Philippine Airlines, Philippine National Bank, Benguet Corporation, Asian 

Bank, Ma. Cristina Chemical Industries, and Paysetter International Inc.  

 

6. Herbert M. Consunji, 61, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since May 2001. He 

earned his degree of Bachelor of Science in Commerce Major in Accounting at De La Salle 

University.  Currently, he is the Chairman, Subic Water & Sewerage Corp.; Director of DMCI 

Holdings, Inc. (listed company), DMCI Project Developers, Inc., DMCI Power Corporation, 

DMCI Mining Corporation, SEM-Calaca Power Corp., Southwest Luzon Power Generation 

Corporation, Maynilad Water Services, Inc., Subic Water & Sewerage Corp., SEM-Cal Industrial 

Park Developers Inc.; CFO, Maynilad Water Services, Inc.; Vice-President & CFO, DMCI 

Holdings, Inc.; Treasurer of SEM-Calaca Res Corporation; and Partner, H.F. Consunji & 

Associate. 

 

7. Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun, 59, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since May 2006 

and currently serves as the Corporation’s Executive Vice President and Chairman of the 

Remuneration & Compensation Committee. She is a graduate of B.S. Business Economics at the 

University of the Philippines and majored in Spanish at the Instituto de Cultura Hispanica in 

Madrid, Spain. She is also a Director and Corporate Secretary of Dacon Corporation; Vice-

President for Finance & Administration/CFO of D.M. Consunji, Inc.; Finance Director of DMC-

Project Developers, Inc.; Director and Treasurer of SEM-Calaca Power Corporation, Southwest 

Luzon Power Generation Corporation, Semirara Claystone Inc., Semirara Energy Utilities Inc., St. 

Raphael Power Generation Corporation, SEM-Balayan Power Generation Corporation, DMCI 

Power Corporation, DMCI Masbate Power Corporation, and SEM-Cal Industrial Park Developers 

Inc.; Assistant Treasurer of DMCI Holdings, Inc. (listed company); and a Trustee, CFO and 

Corporate Secretary of Divine Word School of Semirara Island, Inc. 

 
8. Ma. Edwina C. Laperal, 52, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since May 2007. 

She is a graduate of B.S. Architecture at the University of the Philippines, obtained her Master’s 

Degree in Business Administration at the same University, and earned her Executive Certificate for 

Strategic Business Economics Program at the University of Asia & The Pacific. She is currently a 

Director and Treasurer of Dacon Corporation, DMCI Holdings, Inc. (listed company), D.M. 

Consunji, Inc., and DMCI Project Developers, Inc.; and Director of SEM-Calaca Power 

Corporation, and DMC Urban Property Developers, Inc.  

 

9. George G. San Pedro, 74, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since May 2001 and 

currently serves as the Corporation’s Vice-President for Operations and Resident Manager. He is a 

graduate of B.S. Civil Engineering at the University of the Philippines. He is also the President of 

Divine Word School of Semirara Island, Inc. and Vice-President of Semirara Training Center, Inc.  

He used to work for D.M. Consunji, Inc., Dacon Wood Based Companies, DMC Construction 

Equipment Resources, Inc., and CONBROS Shipping Corporation.  

 

10. Victor C. Macalincag, 78, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of the Corporation since 

May 2005 and currently serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of both 

Compensation & Remuneration and Nomination & Election Committees of the Corporation. He is 

a holder of a Bachelor of Business Administration (BBA) degree from the University of the East 

and a Certified Public Accountant (CPA). He completed his academic requirements for a Masteral 

Degree in Economics and is a fellow of the Economic Development Institute of the World Bank. 

Currently, he is an Independent Director of Ceres Property Ventures, Inc., Crown Equities, Inc. 

(listed company), Republic Glass Holdings, Corporation (listed company), ISM Communications 

Corporation (listed company), Atok-Big Wedge Co., Inc. (listed company), and SEM-Calaca Power 

Corporation. He is also the Chairman of the Board of One Wealthy Nation Fund, Inc. and a 

Regular Director of Asian Alliance Investment Corp.  He was formerly the Undersecretary of 

Finance (1986-1991), Deputy Minister of Finance (1981-1986), Treasurer of the Philippines 

(1983-1987), President of Trade & Investment Development Corporation of the Philippines 

(PHILEXIM) (1991-2001). He was also a director of the Home Guarantee Corporation (1979-

2001), the Philippine Overseas Construction Board (1991-2001), the Philippine Long Distance 

Telephone Company (1988-1995), the National Power Corporation (1978-1986), Universal LRT-7 

Corporation (2003-2010), and Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation (1983-1991). He was 
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Chairman of Pilipinas Bank (1984-1988) and Executive Vice-President of Land Bank of the 

Philippines (1981-1982).  He was also a director of Philippine Aerotransport, Inc., Paper Industries 

Corporation of the Philippines, Lumang Bayan Realty Corporation, and Manila Midtown 

Development Corporation.  

 

11. Federico E. Puno, 67, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of the Corporation since May 

2005 and currently a member of the Audit Committee, Compensation & Remuneration Committee 

and Nomination & Election Committee of the Corporation. He is a graduate of B.S. Civil 

Engineering at the University of the Philippines and obtained his M.S. Industrial Administration 

degree at the Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, USA. Currently, he is the President and CEO 

of TeaM Energy Corporation and San Roque Power Corporation; a Director of Pampanga Sugar 

Development Corp. and Lima Utilities Corporation; an Independent Director of Republic Glass 

Holdings, Corp. (listed company), Forum Pacific, Inc. (listed company), and SEM-Calaca Power 

Corporation.  He is also a Consultant of San Fernando Electric.  Formerly, he was a Director of 

Manila Electric Company (listed company), RGC Marine and Transport Corp., Nobel Philippines, 

Inc., Philippine National Oil Co. & Petrophil Corp., Luzon Stevedoring Corp., Philippine Resource 

Helicopters Inc., Philippine Dockyard Corp., and Union Savings Bank. He was also the President 

of National Power Corporation, San Roque Power Corp., Republic-Asahi Glass Corp., and 

Republic Glass Holdings, Corp.; Chief Financial and Management Services of the Ministry of 

Energy, Assistant Treasurer of the Ministry of Finance, and Ministry Energy Representative of the 

National Electrification Administration. 

 

Executive Officers: 

Isidro A. Consunji*  - Vice-Chairman & CEO 

Victor A. Consunji*  - President & COO 

Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun*  - Executive Vice President 

George G. San Pedro*  - VP-Operations/Resident Manager 

Junalina S. Tabor   - Chief Finance Officer 

Jaime B. Garcia   - VP-Procurement & Logistics 

Denardo M. Cuayo  - VP-Business Development 

Nena D. Arenas   - Chief Governance Officer & Compliance Officer 

John R. Sadullo   - VP-Legal & Corporate Secretary 

Antonio R. delos Santos  - VP-Treasury 

Jose Anthony T. Villanueva - VP-Marketing 

Sharade E. Padilla  - AVP-Investor and Banking Relations 

*Member of the Board 

 

1. Jaime B. Garcia, 58, Filipino, is the Vice President for Procurement and Logistics and has held as 

such since May 2006.  Over 25 years of experience in senior management level with D.M. 

Consunji Group of Companies inclusive of overseas experience in strategic sourcing and supply 

chain management, procurement, materials management and logistics in coal mining industry, 

energy (coal fired power plant), construction, shipping, agro-forest timber and wood processing, 

aviation and maritime industry.  He graduated with a degree of B.S. Management and Industrial 

Engineering at Mapua Institute of Technology and obtained his Master’s degree in Business 

Administration at De La Salle University in 1994 and in Business Economics at the University of 

Asia & the Pacific in 1998. He is currently holding the position of Secretary and Treasurer of 

Royal Star Aviation, Inc., Director of Semirara Cement Corporation, Executive Vice-President of 

DMC Construction Equipment Resources, Inc., Director & Vice President of M&S Company, Inc., 

Vice President of Zanorte Palm-Rubber Plantation Inc., and South Davao Development Co., Inc. 

 

2. Junalina S. Tabor, 50, Filipino, has been the Chief Finance Officer of the Corporation since May 

2010. She graduated Magna Cum Laude with a degree of Bachelor in Science in Commerce, 

Major in Accounting 1984 at Saint Joseph College and is a Certified Public Accountant.  She 

obtained her Master of Public Administration at the University of the Philippines in 1995 under the 

Local Scholarship Program (LSP) of the Civil Service Commission. She earned her Certificate in 

Business Economics from the School of Economics, University of Asia and The Pacific in June 

2012 under its Strategic Business Economics Program (SBEP) and also completed the modular 

course in Computer Literacy Program at Systems Technology Institute as half scholar in 

1988.  Prior to joining the Corporation in 1997, she held various positions with the Commission on 

Audit from State Auditor Examiner to State Auditor in 1984-1997.  She was Team Leader in 
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special audit engagements in certain government owned and controlled corporations from 1994-

1996.  She is also concurrently the Chief Finance Officer of SEM-Calaca Power Corporation. 

 

3. John R. Sadullo, 43, Filipino, is the Vice-President for Legal (appointed November 2013), 

Corporate Secretary, Legal Counsel and Corporate Information Officer of the Corporation, and has 

held as such since May 2005. He graduated with a degree of A.B. Major in Political Science at the 

University of Santo Tomas. He obtained his Bachelor of Laws Degree at San Beda College of Law, 

took the BAR exam in 1996 and was admitted in 1997. He currently holds the position of 

Corporate Secretary of SEM-Calaca Power Corporation, Southwest Luzon Power Generation 

Corporation, Semirara Energy Utilities Inc., St. Raphael Power Generation Corporation, SEM-

Balayan Power Generation Corporation, Semirara Claystone Inc., SEM-Cal Industrial Park 

Developers Inc., and SEM-Calaca Res Corporation.  He is also the Assistant Corporate Secretary 

of Semirara Training Center, Inc. and previously the Corporate Secretary of DMCI Mining 

Corporation, DMCI Masbate Power Corporation, and DMCI Concepcion Power Corporation. 

 

4. Denardo M. Cuayo, 49, Filipino, has been the Vice-President for Business Development of the 

Corporation since May 2011.  He graduated with a degree of BS Electrical Engineering at the 

University of the Philippines in 1986 and placed 11
th

 at the 1987 Electrical Engineering Board 

Examinations.  He is currently the Vice-President for Business Development of Southwest Luzon 

Power Generation Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation.  Prior to joining the 

Corporation, he was the Business Development Consultant of DMCI Power Corporation; Asst. 

Vice President & Plant Manager of San Miguel Corporation; and Cadet Engineer of Manila 

Electric Company. 

 

5. Nena D. Arenas, 53, Filipino, is the Chief Governance Officer and Compliance Officer of the 

Corporation and has held as such since August 2013.  Before her appointment, she was Good 

Governance Officer of the Corporation since July 2005.   Prior to joining the Corporation, she was 

a Director, Chief Finance Officer and Vice-President of MCA Universal Inc.; Director of MCA 

Music Inc. and Reach Youth Ministries, a non-stock, non-profit organization.  She has more than 

fifteen years extensive experience in finance, accounting, budget & forecasting, Information 

Technology, warehousing, legal & business affairs, human resources and administration 

management. She also has seven years experience in external audit at SGV & Co.  She is currently 

a Fellow of the Institute of Corporate Directors.  She is a Certified Public Accountant and 

graduated Cum Laude with a degree in Bachelor of Science major in Accounting at the University 

of St. La Salle.   

 

6. Antonio R. delos Santos, 61, Filipino, is the Vice-President for Treasury since November 2013.  

He graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Business Administration at De La Salle 

University.  He was the Treasury Head of the Corporation prior his appointment.  Before joining 

the Corporation, he was the Finance Officer of DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

 

7. Jose Anthony T. Villanueva, 49, Filipino, is the Vice-President for Marketing since November 

2013.  He received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Mechanical Engineering and obtained his 

Master’s Degree in Business Administration both at De La Salle University.  He also earned his 

Master’s Degree in Public Management at the University of the Philippines.  He has undergone 

intensive training in financial modeling in Singapore and completed the Petroleum Energy Policy 

and Management Program in Norway as full scholar of the Norwegian Petroleum Directorate.  

Prior to his appointment, he was the Marketing Manager of the Corporation since 2011.  For more 

than 20 years he has been the forefront of the energy industry and held various positions as 

Department Manager for Finance and Planning, Business Development and Information 

Technology, Corporate Planning and as General Manager for Coal Division of state-owned 

company engaged in the exploration, development and production of geothermal, oil and gas and 

coal in the Philippines. 

 

8. Sharade E. Padilla, 35, Filipino, is the Assistant Vice-President for Investor and Banking 

Relations and has held as such since November 2013.  She graduated Magna Cum Laude with a 

degree of Bachelor of Business Administration, Major in Management and obtained her Master’s 

degree in Business Administration both at Siliman University. Before her appointment, she held 

the following positions in the Corporation: Investment Relations and Business Development 

Officer (2007-2013), and Senior Financial Analyst (2003-2007). She is currently the Treasury 

Officer of Southwest Luzon Power Generation Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
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Corporation.  Her previous affiliations include Jr. Financial Analyst, Dacon Corporation; and 

Information Officer/Executive Assistant of the City Administrator of Tacloban City.  She has nine 

years experience in investor relations and more than eleven years experience in financial analysis 

and in treasury and banking relations, among others. 
12.  

 

The nominees for election or re-election of the directors have been indicated in the Company’s 

Definitive Information Statement (SEC Form 20-IS) sent to stockholders of record.  The officers 

of the company will be known in the organizational meeting of the Board of Directors which will 

follow immediately after the annual stockholders’ meeting.  Neither of the Company’s directors 

nor senior management employed or became a partner of the current external auditor of the 

Company in the past two (2) years. 

 

Board Meeting and Attendance. – At the beginning of the year, the Board is advised of the 

schedule of meetings for the calendar year without prejudice to call a special board meeting when 

required by the Corporation’s operation and other exigency.  In the conduct of meeting, the 

quorum requirement under the law is simple majority of the members of the Board while approval 

of corporate acts and resolutions requires majority of the Board present. 

 

The record of attendance of Directors to board meetings for the year 2013 is as follows: 

 
Board Name Date of 

Election 

Number of 

Meeting Held 

during the Year 

Meetings 

Attended 

% 

Chairman David M. Consunji May 6, 2013 9 8 89 

Vice-Chairman Isidro A. Consunji May 6, 2013 9 8 89 

Member Victor A. Consunji May 6, 2013 9 9 100 

Member Jorge A. Consunji May 6, 2013 9 8 89 

Member Herbert M. Consunji May 6, 2013 9 8 89 

Member Cesar A. Buenaventura May 6, 2013 9 9 100 

Member Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun May 6, 2013 9 9 100 

Member Ma. Edwina C. Laperal May 6, 2013 9 9 100 

Member George G. San Pedro May 6, 2013 9 6 67 

Independent Victor C. Macalincag May 6, 2013 9 9 100 

Independent Federico E. Puno May 6, 2013 9 9 100 

 

None of the directors has absented himself for more than 50% from all meetings of the Board 

during the 12-month period of his incumbency. 

 

Term of Office. - The term of office of the Directors and Executive Officers is one (1) year from 

their election. All Directors will have served for a period of approximately twelve (12) months by 

May 5, 2014. 

 

Independent Directors. - Under its Revised Code of Corporate Governance, as amended, 

submitted to the SEC on March 8, 2011, the Corporation is required to have at least two (2) 

Independent Directors or such number of Independent Directors as shall constitute at least twenty 

percent (20%) of the members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, whichever is lesser. 

The two (2) nominees for Independent Directors will be selected by the Nomelec in accordance 

with the guidelines in the Revised Code of Corporate Governance (SEC Memorandum Circular 

No. 6, Series of 2009) and the Guidelines on the Nomination and Election of Independent 

Directors (SRC Rule 38). 

 

On December 8, 2008, the SEC approved the amendment to the Corporation’s By-Laws to include 

Art. III thereof on the adoption of SRC Rule 38.  The Corporation abides to SRC Rule 38, its By-

Laws, and the relevant or subsequent circulars, memoranda or notices of SEC regarding the 

qualifications, nomination and election, the submission of Certificate of Qualification, and the 

required number of independent directors.  DMCI Holdings, Inc. (DHI) is the majority stockholder 

of the Corporation and the nominated independent directors are neither stockholders nor directors 

of DHI. 

 

In 2013, Messrs. Victor C. Macalincag and Federico E. Puno were nominated by a non-controlling 

stockholder and elected by the stockholders as independent directors of the Company.  To date, 
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they have served as such since 2004.  The Company has not encountered any restraint from the 

stockholders in retaining its independent directors.  It has been a consensus of the stockholders to 

elect them during the meeting.  Notwithstanding the recent SEC Memorandum Circular No. 9, 

Series of 2011, which took effect on January 2, 2012, the independent directors herein are 

compliant with the term limit requirement. 

 

Other Directorship Held in Reporting Companies: 

 

David M. Consunji  Chairman, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

Cesar A. Buenaventura  Vice-Chairman, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

 PetroEnergy Resources Corporation 

 iPeople, Inc. 

Isidro A. Consunji  President & CEO, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

 Director, Crown Equities, Inc. 

 Director, Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development 

Corp. 

Jorge A. Consunji  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

Victor A. Consunji  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

Herbert M. Consunji  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

Ma. Edwina C. Laperal  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

Victor C. Macalincag  Independent Director, Crown Equities, Inc. 

 Independent Director, Republic Glass Holdings, Inc. 

 Independent Director, ISM Communications Corp. 

 Independent Director, Atok-Big Wedge Co., Inc. 

Federico E. Puno  Independent Director, Republic Glass Holdings, Inc. 

 

(2) The following are the Significant Employees/Executive Officers of the Issuer: 

 

Names Citizenship Position Age 

Isidro A. Consunji Filipino Vice-Chairman/CEO 65 

Victor A. Consunji Filipino President/COO 63 

Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun Filipino Executive Vice President 59 

Junalina S. Tabor Filipino Chief Finance Officer 50 

George G. San Pedro Filipino VP-Operations/Resident Manager 74 

Jaime B. Garcia Filipino VP-Procurement & Logistics 58 

Denardo M. Cuayo Filipino VP-Business Development 49 

Nena D. Arenas Filipino Chief Governance Officer/Compliance Officer 53 

John R. Sadullo Filipino VP-Legal & Corporate Secretary 43 

Antonio R. delos Santos Filipino VP-Treasury 61 

Jose Anthony T. Villanueva Filipino VP-Marketing 49 

Sharade E. Padilla Filipino AVP-Investor and Banking Relations 35 

 

(3) Family Relationship. - The family relationship up to the fourth civil degree either by 

consanguinity or affinity among directors or executive officers is as stated below. 

 

Mr. David M. Consunji is the father of Messrs. Isidro A. Consunji, Victor A. Consunji, Jorge A. 

Consunji, Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun and Ma. Edwina C. Laperal.  Mr. Herbert M. Consunji is 

nephew of Mr. David M. Consunji and cousin of Messrs. Isidro A. Consunji, Victor A. Consunji 

Jorge A. Consunji, Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun and Ma. Edwina C. Laperal. 

 

(4) Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings. - None of the directors and officers was involved in 

the past five years in any bankruptcy proceeding.  Neither have they been convicted by final 

judgment in any criminal proceeding, nor been subject to any order, judgment or decree of 

competent jurisdiction, permanently enjoining, barring, suspending, or otherwise limiting their 

involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or banking activities, nor found in 

action by any court or administrative body to have violated a securities or commodities law. 

 

Except for the following, none of the directors and executive officers of the Company is subject to 

any pending criminal cases: 
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(a) Pp. vs. Consunji, et. al., Criminal Case No. Q-02-114052, RTC-QC, Branch 78. - A 

complaint for violation of Article 315(2)(a) of the Revised Penal Code, as qualified by 

Presidential Decree No. 1689 was filed in RTC-QC Branch 78 as Criminal Case No. Q-02-

114052 pursuant to a resolution of the Quezon City Prosecutor dated December 3, 2002 in I.S. 

No. 02-7259 finding probable cause against the directors and officers of Universal Leisure 

Club (ULC) and its parent Company, Universal Rightfield Property Holdings, Inc., including 

Isidro A. Consunji as incumbent Chairman, Cesar A. Buenaventura and Ma. Edwina C. 

Laperal as former directors of ULC. Complainants claim to have been induced to buy ULC 

shares of stock on the representation that ULC shall develop a project known as “a network of 

5 world clubs.” 

 

The case was re-raffled to RTC-QC Branch 85 (the “Court”).  On January 10, 2003 

respondents filed their Motion for Reconsideration on the resolution dated December 3, 2002, 

which was granted on August 18, 2003.  Accordingly, a Motion to Withdraw Information was 

filed in Court.  On September 11, 2003, complainants’ sought reconsideration of the 

resolution withdrawing the information, but was denied by the City Prosecutor.  By reason of 

the denial, Complainants’ filed a Petition for Review with the Department of Justice (DOJ) on 

August 26, 2005. 

 

Meanwhile, the Court granted the withdrawal of information on June 6, 2005.  Complainants 

filed a Motion for Reconsideration and Urgent Motion for Inhibition, but were both denied by 

the Court in its Omnibus Order dated November 29, 2005.  Thereafter, a Notice of Appeal was 

filed by the complainants, but was ordered stricken out of records by the Court for being 

unauthorized and declaring the Omnibus Order final and executory in its Order dated February 

22, 2007. 

 

The Petition for Review, however, filed by the Complainants with the DOJ on August 26, 

2005 is pending to date. 

 

(b) Rodolfo V. Cruz, et. al. vs. Isidro A. Consunji, et. al., I.S. Nos. 03-57411-I, 03-57412-I, 

03-57413-I, 03-57414-I, 03-57415-I, 03-57446-I and 03-57447-I, Department of Justice, 

National Prosecution Service. - These consolidated cases arose out of the same events in the 

above-mentioned case, which is likewise pending before the DOJ. 

 

In its 1
st
 Indorsement dated December 9, 2003, the City Prosecutor for Mandaluyong City, 

acting on a motion for inhibition filed by complainants, through counsel, recommended that 

further proceedings be conducted by the DOJ. In an order dated February 3, 2004, the DOJ 

designated State Prosecutor Geronimo Sy to conduct the preliminary investigation of this case. 

The last pleading filed is a notice of change of address dated June 27, 2008 filed by 

complainants’ counsel.  

 

B. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

All executive officers of the Company are elected or appointed by the Board of Directors and serve for 

one year and until their successors are duly elected and qualified.  Set forth below are the names of the 

CEO and five (5) most highly compensated officers of the Company: 

 

 

Name and Principal Position 

 

Years 

 

Salary 

 

Bonus 

Other Annual 

Compensation 

Isidro  A. Consunji 

Vice-Chairman & CEO  

    

Victor A. Consunji 

President and COO 

    

George G. San Pedro 

VP & Resident Manager 

    

Jaime B. Garcia 

VP-Procurement & Logistics 

    

Junalina S. Tabor 

Chief Finance Officer 

    

 2012 10,042,500.00 60,588,235.59       3,165,753.43 

2013 10,649,058.33 71,617,647.35         3,396,451.27 

2014* 10,649,058.33 71,617,647.35         3,396,451.27 

Total ₱31,340,616.66 ₱203,823,530.29 ₱9,958,655.97 
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All other Directors and Officers 

as a group 

2012 8,979,750.00 24,745,000.12 4,363,863.01 

2013 9,107,385.09 27,665,058.95 4,657,794.44 

 2014* 9,107,385.09 27,665,058.95 4,657,794.44 

Total  ₱27,194,520.18  ₱80,075,118.02   ₱13,679,451.89  

 *Approximate amounts 

 

The amount reflected as compensation of the named executive officers represents salary approved by 

the Company’s Board of Directors.  The amounts indicated in relation thereto are restated to conform 

to the new accounting standards. 

 

All directors of the Corporation receive an annual retainer fee of ₱240,000.00 as approved in the May 

2009 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting and ₱20,000.00 fixed per diem for every meeting held and 

attended for each of the directors who serves as Chairman and members of the Corporation’s Board 

Committees. Aside from executive Directors with employment compensation, there are no other 

directors with arrangements such as consulting contracts. 

 

There is no contract covering their employment with the Corporation and they hold office by virtue of 

their election and/or appointment to office.  The Corporation has no agreements with its named 

executive officers regarding any bonus, profit sharing, except for benefits for which they may be 

entitled under the Corporation’s retirement plan.  On the other hand, members of the Board of 

Directors may be granted bonuses in accordance with the Corporation’s By-laws which prescribe a 

limit on the aggregate amount of Director bonuses which shall not exceed two percent (2%) of the 

Company’s profit before tax during the previous year, while limit to total yearly compensation 

package, including bonuses granted, of Directors as such directors shall not exceed ten percent (10%) 

of the Company’s net income before tax during the previous year. 

 

In 2013, aggregate amount of cash bonus variable pay related to the preceding year’s financial 

performance received by executive and non-executive Directors, including Independent Directors and 

the CEO, did not exceed abovementioned limits set by the Company’s Amended By-laws.  

  
There are no outstanding warrants, options, or right to repurchase any securities held by the directors or 

executive officers of the Corporation. 

 

C. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 

 

(1) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners. - The following table sets forth 

as of March 10, 2014, the record or beneficial owners of more than 5% of the outstanding common 

shares of the Company and the amount of such record or beneficial ownership. 

 

Title of 

Class 

Name, Address of 

record owner and 

relationship with 

Issuer 

Name of Beneficial 

Owner and Relationship 

with Record Owner 

Citizen-

ship 

Amount/ 

Nature of 

Record/ 

Beneficial 

Ownership 

% of 

Class 

 

 

Common DMCI Holdings, 

Inc., 

3/F DACON 

Building, 2281 

Pasong Tamo Ext., 

Makati City, 

Stockholder of 

record 

1. Dacon Corporation, 

stockholder of 

1,215,393,901 shares 

or 45.77% 

2. DFC Holdings, Inc., 

stockholder of 

461,999,838 or 

17.40% 

3. PCD Nominee Corp. 

(Filipino), stockholder 

of 455,207,883shares 

or 17.14% 

4. PCD Nominee 

Corporation (Foreign), 

stockholder of        

443,210,923shares or 

16.69% 

Filipino 200,647,533 

(R) 

56.32 

 

Common PCD Nominee 

Corp., stockholder 

of record 

N/A Filipino 48,243,331 13.54 
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Common Dacon Corporation, 

2/F DMCI Plaza, 

2281 Don Chino 

Roces, Makati City, 

stockholder of 

record 

Inglebrook Holdings, Inc. 

holds 9,948,510 shares or 

12.42%11 

Filipino 43,608,509 12.24 

Common PCD Nominee 

Corp., stockholder 

of record 

Hongkong and Shanghai 

Banking Corp. Ltd. holds 

27,965,184 shares or 

7.85% 

 Foreign 42,378,964 11.90 

 

(2) Security Ownership Management. - The table sets forth as of March 10, 2014 the beneficial 

stock ownership of each Director of the Company and all Officers and Directors as a group. 

 

 

Title of 

class 

 

Name of beneficial owner 

Amount and nature of  beneficial 

ownership 

 

Citizenshi

p 

 

% 

Direct Indirect12 Total 

Common David M. Consunji 12 202 212 Filipino 0.00% 

Common Isidro A. Consunji 2,012 323,306 325,318 Filipino 0.09% 

Common Cesar A. Buenaventura 6,010 - 6,010 Filipino 0.00% 

Common Victor A. Consunji 12 527,138 527,150 Filipino 0.15% 

Common Jorge A. Consunji 12 8,262 8,274 Filipino 0.00% 

Common Herbert M. Consunji 23,060 - 23,060 Filipino 0.01% 

Common Victor C. Macalincag 271,630 7,000 278,630 Filipino  0.08% 

Common George G. San Pedro 40,030 - 40,030 Filipino  0.01% 

Common Federico E. Puno 60,010 - 60,010 Filipino  0.02% 

Common Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun 119 397,098 397,217 Filipino  0.11% 

Common Ma. Edwina C. Laperal 349 423,398 423,747 Filipino 0.12% 

Common Jaime B. Garcia 48,036 - 48,036 Filipino  0.01% 

Common Denardo M. Cuayo 1,500 - 1,500 Filipino 0.00% 

Common Nena D. Arenas 800 - 800 Filipino 0.00% 

Common Antonio R. Delos Santos 5,000 - 5,000 Filipino 0.00% 

Common Jose Anthony T. Villanueva 250 4,630 4,880 Filipino 0.00% 

Common Sharade E. Padilla 600 90 690 Filipino 0.00% 

Aggregate Ownership of all directors and 

officers as a group 
459,442 1,691,122 2,150,564 Filipino  0.60% 

 

The percentages of ownership of the above officers and directors are very minimal.  There are no 

arrangements, which may result in a change in control of the registrant. 

  

D. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIP AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 

 

There has been no transaction or proposal, for the last two (2) years, to which the Company was or is 

party, in which any of the directors, executive officers or nominees for director has direct or indirect 

material interest, outside the recurring regular business transactions incurred by the Company to 

support the business.  Related parties’ services were sought to take advantage of affiliated companies’ 

expertise and for cost efficiency, among others.  These related party transactions were trade related and 

transacted at arms-length basis and at terms generally available to an unaffiliated third party or 

more clearly independent parties, under the same or similar circumstances. There were no transactions 

in the form of direct financial assistance to affiliates or related entities which are not wholly owned 

subsidiaries. Note 18 of Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements and Note 18 of Notes to 

Consolidated Financial Statements for the period ended December 31, 2013 indicate the Company’s 

significant transactions with related parties. 

 

  

                                                 
11 Other beneficial owners of Dacon Corporation with the same number of shares are Eastheights Holdings, Inc., 

Gulfshore Inc., Valemount Corporation, Chrismon Investment Inc., Jagjit Holdings, Inc., La Lumiere Holdings, Inc., Rice 
Creek Holdings, Inc. while Double Spring Investments Corporation only holds 201,909 shares or .64% of Dacon’s issued 
and outstanding shares. 
12 Shares are either held by members of the family sharing the same household or by a corporation of which the reporting 
person is a controlling shareholder. 
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PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 

 

A. Exhibits and reports on SEC Form 17-C 

(1) Exhibits. - See accompanying Index to Exhibits as well as the Company’s Audited Financial 

Statements for the recently completed fiscal year.  These financial statements are reports from the 

Company’s Independent Public Accountant, SGV& Co. 

 

(2) Reports on SEC Form 17-C. - There are SEC Forms 17-C filed during the last six-month period 

covered by this report, to wit: 

 

No. Subject Date Reported 

1. Execution of Coal Operating Contract dated April 29, 2013 

between DOE and the Corporation covering two parcels of coal-

bearing land located in the Municipality of Bulalacao, Province 

of Mindoro with an aggregate area of 7,000 hectares. 

June 3, 2013 

2. Approval by the Board of Directors of the Corporation’s 2
nd

 

quarter consolidated financial statements as of and for the 

interim period ended June 30, 2013; appropriation of ₱1.6 

billion from the Corporation’s unappropriated retained earnings 

to cover capital expenditures and investments for power plant 

expansion; and resignation of Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun as 

Compliance Officer and the appointment of Nena D. Arenas as 

Chief Governance Officer and Compliance Officer. 

August 8, 2013 

3. Clarification of news article published in the Manila Bulletin 

(internet edition) on August 30, 2013 entitled “Meralco seeking 

refund from suppliers.” 

September 2, 2013 

4. Submission of the results of the Corporation’s Audit Committee 

Self-Assessment with an overall rating of 9.1. 

September 9, 2013 

5. Receipt of Entry of Judgment dated September 2, 2013 where 

the March 27, 2013 decision of the NLRC dismissing the case 

against the Corporation for lack merit became final and 

executory in the case “Bornea, Jr., Appellant, vs. Semirara 

Mining Corp., et. al., Appellee, NLRC Case No. MAC-06-

012592-2012 (RAB-XI-00663-11), NLRC, Cagayan de Oro 

City.” 

September 9, 2013 

6. The Corporation awarded 2
nd

 Runner-Up in the ASEAN Best 

Practices in Coal Projects under the Corporate Social 

Responsibility Category in its submission dubbed as “5E’s 

Program of Semirara Mining Corporation.” 

September 26, 2013 

 Clarification of news article published in philSTAR on October 

10, 2013 entitled “Semirara expects another banner year.” 

October 10, 2013 

7. Update Report dated October 15, 2013 to the Corporation’s 

Technical Report on Bobog Coal Deposit in Semirara Island, 

CAluya, Antique.  

November 8, 2013 

9. Resumption of the Corporation’s mining operation in Semirara 

Island, Caluya, Antique on November 10, 2013 after its 

operation was suspended due to typhoon Yolanda. 

November 11, 2013 

10. Approval by the Board of Directors of the Corporation’s 3
rd

 

quarter consolidated financial statements as of and for the 

interim period ended September 30, 2013; and appointment of 

the following officers of the Corporation: (i) Ma. Cristina C. 

Gotianun (Executive Vice President); (ii) Antonio R. Delos 

Santos (VP-Treasury); (iii) John R. Sadullo (VP-Legal); (iv) 

Jose Anthony T. Villanueva (VP-Marketing); and (v) Sharade E. 

Padilla (AVP-Investor and Banking Relations). 

November 12, 2013 

11. Correction of on previous disclosure dated November 8, 2013 

regarding Bobog Coal Deposit Update Report. 

November 19, 2013 
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12. Update report that construction of 2x150MW CFD (Phase 1) 

under the Corporation’s subsidiary Southwest Luzon Power 

Generation Corporation is in progress as scheduled, and new 

configuration for Phase 2 from 2x150MW capacity to 

2x350MW using Pulverized Coal technology, which shall also 

be implemented by the Corporation’s another wholly-owned 

project company. 

November 29, 2013 

13. Receipt of Summons on the case “Daniel G. Fajardo, 

Plaintiff vs. DMCI (Semirara Coal Mining Operator), The 

Local Government of Municipality of Caluya, Province of 

Antique, in its Capacity as local government unit 

concerned which has supervision and jurisdiction over 

Semirara Island; The Department of Environmental and 

Natural Resources (M.G.B. & E.M.B.) office VI, in their 

capacity as the approving and recommending office in the 

issuance of license as well as the other necessary permits 

to operate coal mining in Semirara Island and the 

Provincial Government of Antique, Defendants, Civil 

Case No. C-271, Regional Trial Court, Branch 13, Culasi, 

Antique,” which was filed pursuant to Supreme Court 

Administrative Matter No. 09-6-8-SC otherwise known as 

“Rules of Procedures for Environmental Cases.” 

December 9, 2013 

14. Submission of Amended Certification on Qualification of 

Independent Director by Victor C. Macalincag. 

December 16, 2013 

15. Retirement of George B. Baquiran, VP-Special Projects 

effective January 31, 2014. 

January 20, 2014 

16. Attendance of directors and officers in corporate governance 

training program pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 

20, series of 2013. 

February 13, 2014 

17. Clarification of news article entitled “Semirara sees P8B net 

profit this year” published in Inquirer.net on February 19, 2014. 

February 19, 2014 
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SEC FORM 17-A 

 

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 

 

     

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 Statement of Management Responsibility for Financial Statements --------------------------  

 Report on Independent Public Accountants -------------------------------------------------------  

 Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31, 2012 & 2011 ----------  

 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as of December 31, 2012 & 2011 ------------------  

 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ------------------------------------------------------  

    

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES  

 Report of Independent Public Accountants on Supplementary Schedules  

 A. Financial Assets ------------------------------------------------------------------------------  

 B. Amounts receivable from directors, officers, employees, related parties, and 

principal stockholders (other than affiliates) ---------------------------------------------- 

 

 C. Amounts Receivables/Payables from/to related parties which are eliminated 

during the consolidation of financial statements ----------------------------------------- 

 

 D. Intangible Assets – Other Assets -----------------------------------------------------------  

 E. Long-Term Debt ------------------------------------------------------------------------------  

 F. Indebtedness to Related Parties ------------------------------------------------------------- N/A 

 G. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers ------------------------------------------------- N/A 

 H. Capital Stock ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------  

 I. Schedule of all the effective standards and interpretations -----------------------------  

 J. Retained Earnings ----------------------------------------------------------------------------  

 K. Schedule on Financial Soundness Indicators ---------------------------------------------  

 L. Map of the Relationships of the Companies within the Group -------------------------  
 


























































































































































































































































































































































































































